# DICKINSON ALUMNUS



Vol. 17, No. 4

May, 1940



Over 7000 Clean, Cool, Air-Conditioned Miles in a Tour

#### AROUND AMERICA

Including Canadian Rockies, Seattle, San Francisco Fair, Hollywood, Old Spanish Missions, Yosemite, Old Mexico.

All Expense From Chicago

\$174

and

ECONOMY TOURS

All expense from New York, \$124-\$219

Other Tours and Cruises in Wide Variety—Alaska, Hawaii, Canada, Mexico, Great Lakes, West Indies, South America.

Dr. C. J. Carver, Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa. The New

JAMES WILSON HOTEL CARLISLE, PA.

000

Headquarters for Dickinsonians

000

-B. S. SWARTZ, Owner

#### CAN YOU USE A REPRESENTATIVE IN BALTIMORE THIS SUMMER?

I can make contacts and get information for you

#### EXPERIENCE

Interviewer Public Health Survey.

Supervisor Survey of Federal Archives.

Visited every county in Maryland as state supervisor of special education.

Good contacts with public schools, Y. M. C. A., Churches, College and Fraternity groups. Also wide business and professional acquaintance.

> Clarence M. Shepherd '10 3820 West Cold Spring Lane, Baltimore, Maryland

## The History of Dickinson College

BY

James Henry Morgan, Ph. D., D. D., LL. D.

"The book every Dickinsonian should have in his library and read."

\$3.50 Postpaid

Send orders with remittance made payable to Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa.

## When You Come Back to Carlisle Don't Forget to Visit Your Old Friends

## KRONENBERG'S

"The College Store"

In the New Fireproof Kronenberg Building

#### PROFESSIONAL CARDS

#### R. R. McWHINNEY

Attorney-at-Law

1303 Berger Building, Pittsburgh, Pa.

#### LESTER S. HECHT, '15

Attorney-at-Law

1616 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, Pa.

#### ROSCOE B. SMITH

Attorney-at-Law

705 Coal Exchange Building Wilkes Barre, Pa.

#### CLAYTON HOFFMAN

Attorney-at-Law

Geo. D. Harter Bank Bldg.

Canton, Ohio

#### GEORGE M. STEVENS, '22L

Counsellor-at-Law
Market at Fifth Street,
Camden, N. J.

#### ALBERT H. ALLISON

Chartered Life Underwriter
22nd Floor, Girard Trust Bldg.,
Philadelphia, Pa.

#### C. W. SHARP, '14 LAW

Attorney-at-Law

Baltimore, Md.

#### FRYSINGER EVANS

Attorney and Counsellor-at-Law
322 Land Title Building,
Philadelphia, Pa.

#### MALCOLM B. STERRETT,

'00, '02L

Attorney-at-Law 140 North Orange Avenue Orlando, Florida

# "Songs of Dickinson"

1937 Edition

A new volume in two parts edited by Prof. Ralph Schecter containing every song connected with Dickinson College, and two songs of each fraternity.

Sent postpaid for \$1.25 each upon receipt of order and remittance made payable to Dickinson College.

# The Dickinson Alumnus

Published Quarterly for the Alumni of Dickinson College and the Dickinson School of Law

Editor - - - - - - - - - - - - Gilbert Malcolm, '15, '17L Associate Editors - Dean M. Hoffman, '02, Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., '35

#### ALUMNI COUNCIL

Terms Expire in 1940
Beverly W. Brown, '03
Charles F. Kramer, '11
S. Walter Stauffer, '12
R. E. McElfish, '14
Donald H. Goodyear, '23
Carl A. Larson,
Class of 1937

HO

Terms Expire in 1941 C. William Prettyman, '91 Harry B. Stock, '91 George C. Hering, Jr., '17 Harry D. Kruse. '22 G. Harold Keatley, '27 Clarence B. Hendrickson, Class of 1938 Terms Expire in 1942
J. B. Kremer, '97
J. Merrill Williams, '08
Marjorie L. McIntire, '10
Carl B. Shelley, '17
C. Wendell Holmes, '21
Bernard J. Kotulak,
Class of 1939

#### GENERAL ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON COLLEGE

President ....J. B. Kremer
Vice-President ....Harry D. Kruse
Secretary ....C. Wendell Holmes
Treasurer ....Harry B. Stock

## ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON SCHOOL OF LAW

President ....Justice John W. Kephart First Vice-Pres. ....Robert Hays Smith Sec'y-Treas. .....Joseph P. McKeehan

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Bosler Hall Will Never Be The Same	. 3
Alumni Fund Needs More Gifts to Reach Goals	. 4
157th Commencement Program	. 5
Nine Will Receive Honorary Degrees at Commencement	. 6
Two Hundred Fifty-two Alumni Are Lifers	. 10
The President's Page	. 11
Mail 1,070 Ballots in Election for Council and Trustees	. 14
Form New Alumni Clubs in Delaware and York	. 15
Becomes Atlantic County Judge in New Jersey	. 16
Editorial	. 18
Corporation Head Extols Joys of Literature	. 20
Dickinson Supplies a Portia to New Jersey Bar	. 23
Personals	. 25
Obituary	. 30

Life Membership \$40. May be paid in two installments of \$20 each, six months apart or in \$10 installments.

Alumni dues \$2.00 per year, including \$1.00 for one year's subscription to the magazine. All communications should be addressed to

The Dickinson Alumnus, West College, Carlisle, Pa. "Entered as second-class matter May 23, 1923, at the post office at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, under the Act of March 3, 1879."

## THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS

MAY, 1940

## Bosler Hall Will Never Be The Same



BOSLER HALL IN TRANSITION

From a photograph taken from the third floor of Old West looking south on May 1, 1940

THE face-lifting of Bosler Hall began exactly on schedule on April 1, under the direction of Ritter Bros., contractors, and within a very few days the famed brown-stone cupids, sterner gargoyles, dancing elfs and curled inscriptions were sliding down planked chutes to be carted away to make room for the new limestone structure.

Without ceremony a powerful steam shovel found a path through a newly made hole in the campus wall on College Street, snorted past the contractor's tool house which had jumped up in a day, and began to throw out ground which had lain undisturbed for more than 150 years to find foundations for the new building. That Dame Nature resented this intrusion was shown when one of the trucks serving the steam shovel sunk into a hole which suddenly opened beneath it. The shovel won back its truck and lifted it safely to firmer ground, while spectators realized that the campus like many nearby spots in the lime-stone Cumberland Valley has its "pocks."

Towards the end of March, student

use of the library was curtailed as professors had planned this year's reference study to end when the reconstruction began. Several reference rooms have been set up about the campus, two of them in West College. But there will be no extended library work until the new building is completed about October 1, and required reference reading in the next academic year will not begin until after that date.

Heavy rains in April after the work started retarded the demolition of the front of the building, but alumni returning for Commencement will find all debris cleared away and probably more than the foundations laid for the new front. It will be built of limestone and the three sides of the old building yet standing will be encased in matching

lime-stone. In the first week in May, stone masons began laying the new lime-stone about the south-west corner of the old building.

The plans also call for the lowering of the roof on the old part of the building and this will begin during prevailing clear weather perhaps during the early part of the summer.

With the closing of Bosler Hall, arrangements were made for the holding of chapel services in the Allison Methodist Church, and one service a week on Thursday morning at 10:15 has been the rule since then. Mrs. Leslie M. Karper, church organist and director of the Women's Glee Club, has played the organ at these services, the college orchestra not being used in the church.

## Alumni Fund Needs More Gifts to Reach Goals

With only three weeks remaining to the closing date, there is a threat that the 1940 Alumni Fund will fall below the goals set, though a good response to the final appeals can ring up the \$10,000 asked from 1,000 contributors.

As of May 15, 421 subscriptions totaling \$6,435.81 had been received. On the same date in 1939 there were 425 subscriptions amounting to \$8,247.17 and in 1938, 447 had given \$7,706.02.

A special appeal has been made this year by President F. P. Corson as chairman of the Alumni Fund because of the increased costs to the college in the rebuilding of Bosler Hall. He has pointed out, however, the current needs remain the same and that the Bosler expenditures are additional ones.

From the Alumni Fund, not less than \$750 or as much as is designated, goes to the permanent endowment of the Library Guild, the income of which is used for the purchase of books. A large part of the Alumni Fund receipts are used for financial assistance to needy students in the form of scholarships and scholarship-loans. The remainder is

allotted by the trustees for current college needs.

Two hundred thirty-eight more subscriptions are needed to pass last year's total of 658 subscriptions, which is the record high to date. These subscribers must give \$3,564.19 to reach the \$10,000 mark and that will be below the \$10,-282.67 given in 1939 or the high-water mark of \$12,035.19 which was contributed in 1937.

Alumni are urged to send in their subscriptions promptly so that a victorious announcement can be made at Commencement. Class Agents are sending out last minute letters and other workers will seek to make contacts in the closing days of the campaign. A letter from President Corson will put the appeal before all alumni.

As in other years, the July issue of the *Dickinson College Bulletin* will list the names of all contributors by classes though the amounts given will not be published. The record of all classes will appear in a table showing the number contributing and the amount given by each class.

## 157th Commencement Frogram

Daylight Saving Time

#### Senior Day, Friday, June 7

3:30 P. M.—The Ivy Oration on Old Stone Steps and the Senior Induction by J. Brainerd Kremer, '97, President of the General Alumni Association

7:30 P. M.—Meeting of Board of Trustees

9:00 P. M.

to —Senior Ball, Alumni Gymnasium. Music by Little Jack 1:00 P. M. Little and His Orchestra. Admission by ticket. \$3.00

#### Alumni Day, Saturday, June 8

8:30 A. M.—Phi Beta Kappa Meeting, Memorial Hall

10:30 A. M.—Annual Meeting of the General Alumni Association, West College

12:00 M.—Alumni Luncheon. Alumni Gymnasium. Admission by ticket. Followed by Alumni Parade

2:30 P. M.—Baseball, Dickinson vs. Drew University. Biddle Field.
Admission by ticket

4:30 P. M.

to —The President's Reception

6:00 P. M.

5:30 P. M.—Fraternity Banquets

9:00 P. M.—Alumni Prom and Band Concert

## Baccalaureate Day, Sunday, June 9

10:30 A. M.—Academic Procession, West College

11:00 A. M.—Baccalaureate Services, Alumni Gymnasium Sermon by President Fred Pierce Corson

4:00 P. M.

to Tea at Metzger Hall

6:00 P. M.

8:30 P. M.—Sacred Concert by Women's Glee Club Allison Methodist Church

## Commencement Day, Monday, June 10

9:30 A. M.—Academic Procession, West College

10:00 A. M.—157th Commencement Exercises, Alumni Gymnasium Address by Edwin Holt Hughes, D.D., Litt.D., LL.D., Bishop of the Methodist Church

## Nine To Receive Honorary Degrees at Commencement



DR. FRANK AYDELOTTE



BISHOP EDWIN HOLT HUGHES

Commencement Speaker

SIX ALUMNI will be among the nine recipients of honarary degrees awarded at the 157th annual commencement exercises of the College on June 9. Degrees will be conferred on a bishop of the Methodist Church, on three district superintendents of the Methodist Church, on the dean of an Episcopalian cathedral, on a state supreme court justice, on a college president, on the headmaster of a preparatory school, and on an emininet bibliographical scholar.

Bishop Edwin Holt Hughes, of Washington, D. C., President Frank Aydelotte of Swarthmore College and Justice Marion D. Patterson, '05L, of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, will receive the degree of doctor of laws, while degree of doctor of divinity will be awarded to Dean J. Thomas Heistand, Rev. Walter A. Hearn, '14, Rev. Lester A. Welliver, '18, and Rev. John M. Pearson, '18. Dr. Edwin E. Willoughby, '22, will be awarded the degree of doctor of letters, and Harry M. Scarborough, '06, will receive an honorary master of arts degree.

Bishop Hughes, who has been a trustee of Dickinson College since 1932, is also a trustee of DePauw University, Ohio Wesleyan University, American University, and Morgan College, and has received honorary laws degrees from Ohio Wesleyan, DePauw, and the University of Maine. He will be the speaker at the 157th Commencement exercises on June 10.

Senior bishop of the Methodist Church since 1932, Bishop Hughes was born in Moundsville, W. Va., in 1866, the son of a Methodist clergyman, and he attended West Virginia University and Iowa College before graduating from Ohio Wesleyan in 1889. Three years later he completed his theological training at Boston University and was ordained. For eleven years he held two pastorates in Massachusetts, and then became president of DePauw in 1903, serving until his elevation to the bishopric in 1908. For a time he was acting president of Boston University in 1923 and acting chancellor of American University in 1932.



DEAN J. THOMAS HEISTAND

Dr. Frank Aydelotte, president of Swarthmore College since 1921 who resigned this year to become director of the Institute of Advanced Research at Princeton University, will receive the degree of doctor of laws. A native of Indiana, he graduated from Indiana University in 1900 and received his A.M. from Harvard in 1903. From 1905 to 1907 he was a Rhodes Scholar to Oxford University from which he received the B. Litt. degree. He has received honorary degrees from Allegheny, Yale, Indiana, Pennsylvania, Pittsburgh, Oxford and Oberlin. Since 1918 he has been American secretary to the Rhodes trustees and since 1922 a trustee of the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. He is a member of the board of the Institute of International Education and chairman of the advisory board of the John Simon Guggenheim Memorial Foundation. Since 1922 he has been a member of the National Research Council and a trustee of the World Peace Foundation since 1927. He is a member



JUSTICE MARION D. PATTERSON

of the Modern Language Association, American Historical Association, American Philosophical Society, Council on Foreign Relations, American Academy of Political and Social Sciences, of Phi Beta Kappa and Sigma Nu fraternities. In 1925, he was president of the Association of American Colleges. An author of books on various subjects, his club memberships are Cosmos (Washington), Century (New York), Franklin Inn (Philadelphia), Harvard (Boston and New York), and Athenaeum (London). He is married and has a son, William Osgood.

The other honorary doctor of laws degree will go to Judge Patterson, who was elected to the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania last fall, to succeed Chief Justice John W. Kephart, '94L, who retired upon the expiration of his term. Judge Patterson was formerly district attorney of Blair County and had served



EDWIN E. WILLOUGHBY

as Judge of the Blair County courts for a number of years before his election to the highest bench.

One of the younger alumni of the College will be honored when Dr. Edwin E. Willoughby, '22, chief bibliographer of the Folger Shakespeare Library at Washington and one of the nation's eminent scholars, receives the degree of doctor of letters. Upon his graduation from College Dr. Willoughby joined the staff of the Newberry Library in Chicago, becoming head of the reference department in 1929. At Newberry he studied scientific bibliography under Dr. Pierce Butler, '06, now professor of bibliographical history of the Graduate Library School of the University of Chicago, and under the late Professor John M. Manly, of the University of Chicago.

After study in the British Museum on a Guggenheim Fellowship and at the University of Chicago, Dr. Willoughby served three years as professor of library science at the College of William and Mary and in 1935 became chief bibliographer of the Folger Shakespeare Library. Author of about 200 articles in professional and scientific journals, he is also the author of *The Printing of the* 



REV. WALTER A. HEARN

First Folio of Shakespeare, A Printer of Shakespeare, and Original Leaves from the Four Folios of Shakespeare.

The Very Reverend J. Thomas Heistand, dean of St. Stephen's Cathedral, Harrisburg, Pa., who will receive the degree of doctor of divinity, was educated in the public schools of Lancaster, Pa., studied at Columbia University, but withdrew to enter the United States Army, and after the war was graduated from the General Theological Seminary at New York. Ordained in 1921, he served churches in Kulpmont and Bloomsburg, Pa., before coming to Harrisburg.

Mr. Heistand is secretary of the standing committee of the Diocese of Pennsylvania and chairman of the Bishop Darlington Memorial Fund Committee.

The three remaining doctor of divinity degrees will be conferred on three Dickinsonians, all of whom are district superintendents of the Methodist Church. Rev. Lester A. Welliver, '18, superintendent of the Harrisburg district of the Central Pennsylvania Conference for the past several years, was a delegate from his conference to the General Conference of the Methodist Church which sat at the



HARRY M. SCARBOROUGH

beginning of the month. By this body he was made a member of the board of governors of Westminster Theological Seminary, at Westminster, Md. Mr. Welliver is a member of Phi Beta Kappa, Raven's Claw, and Kappa Sigma.

Rev. Walter A. Hearn, '14, was named head of the Dover district of the Wilmington Conference of the Methodist Church a year ago. During the World War he was a chaplain in the Marine Corps and is a member of the American Legion, Theta Chi, and the Masonic fraternity.

Appointed last year superintendent of the New York district of the New York Conference of the Methodist Church, Rev. John M. Pearson, '18, who will also receive the degree of doctor of divinity, served in the Marine Corps during the World War, was graduated from Drew University in 1923, and held charges in Bedford Hills and Dobbs Ferry, N. Y., before being made district superintendent.

The honorary degree of master of arts will be awarded to Harry M. Scarborough, '06, headmaster of New York Military Academy at Cornwall-on-the-Hudson. Since his graduation from college, he has served the Academy succes-



REV. LESTER A. WELLIVER



REV. JOHN M. PEARSON

sively as science instructor from 1906 to 1911, headmaster from 1911 to 1918, executive officer from 1919 to 1937, and since 1937 as headmaster again. He is a colonel in the Chemical Warfare Service Reserve of the United States Army, president of the board of trustees of the Cornwall Hospital, and a member of the American Legion, Masonic fraternity, and Sons of the American Revolution.

## Two Hundred Fifty-Two Alumni Are Lifers

WITH the addition of twenty-nine names since the publication of the May 1939 number of The Dickinson Alumnus which listed 223 Lifers, the roster published in this issue lists 252 Life Members of the General Alumni Association, eight new subscriptions having been received since February. By direction of the Alumni Council, the roster of Lifers is published annually in the May number of The Dickinson Alumnus.

The growth of life membership in the General Alumni Association began when the fund was established by the late L. T. Appold, then president of the alumni body, in 1924 with 6 Lifers. The growth was tardy at first and it was not until May 1930 that the hundred mark was passed and announcement was made that there were 106 Life Members. When he became president of the General Alumni Association J. B. Kremer set a goal of 250 Lifers by the 1940 Commencement, and that goal has been passed. In 1936, there were 159. In 1937, there were 180 with nine more in 1938, and in 1939 the total was 223.

Every class from 1866 to 1937 inclusive is listed in the roll of Lifers with the single exception of the Class of 1890. No subscription has as yet been received from a member of 1938 or 1939.

The Class of 1902 leads all other classes in the number of Lifers with 18, while the Class of 1917 jumped into second place this year with 10, and the Class of 1915 is third with 9. The classes of 1903 and 1913 are tied in fourth place with 8 each while six classes, 1893, 1897, 1910, 1915, 1926 and 1931 have 7 Lifers each.

During the year, seven Life Members died bringing the total to 31 names marked on the roster by an asterisk. Those who passed away in the past year were Dr. Charles W. Super, '66, who was the oldest living alumnus at the time of his death; Robert H. Conlyn, '72; former

President J. H. Morgan, '78; Robert A. Heberling, '88; W. W. Wharton, '89; Frederick S. Stitt, '95, and William R. Mohr, '15.

Eight new subscriptions have been received since the February number of THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS was issued. One of these came from Samuel H. Miller, '97, attorney of Wiconisco, Pa., while the last two subscriptions received were from J. Boyd Landis, '31, Carlisle attorney, and the other from his wife, Mrs. Janet R. Landis, '31. Mrs. Ethel Wagg Selby, '15, of Boston, Mass., became a Lifer this month.

Dr. Roy W. Mohler, '17, Philadelphia surgeon and president of the Dickinson Club of Philadelphia, is a new Lifer, and Urie D. Lutz, '19, Carlisle undertaker, added his name to the roll.

Edwin E. Willoughby, '22, of the Folger Shakespearean Library, Washington, D. C., who will receive an honorary degree at Commencement is another new Lifer. The seventh new subscription was that of Guy E. Waltman, '23, register of wills of York County, Pa.

Others who became Life Members during the year and whose names appear in the annual roster for the first time are as follows: Dr. Eugene Chaney, '87; Prof. W. W. Landis, '91; Joseph Bosler, Jr., '93; Rev. Dr. Albert E. Piper, '94; Dr. Warren N. Shuman, '02; B. O. Mc-Anney, '13; Clyde M. Williams, '14; Robert L. Ganoe, '16; Dr. Edwin D. Weinberg, '17; Catherine E. Lobach, '19; Rowen C. Pearce, '20; John W. Mahaley, '26; Dr. John P. Milligan, '26; Arthur Markowitz, '28; Tobias H. Dunkelberger, '30; David T. Davis, Jr., '31; Mrs. Christina M. Vestling, '34; Harry C. Zug, '34; Kenneth C. Spengler, '36 and Mrs. Eva I. Townley, '37.

A number of the Lifer subscriptions are being paid on one of the offered installment plans, but when all are paid in full the Lemuel Towers Appold Life Membership Fund will total \$10,080.

This is invested as directed by the Alumni Council and only the income is used for the current needs of the General Alumni Association, being largely used in the publication of THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS.

Life Membership costs \$40 and may be paid in annual installments of \$10 or

\$20. It carries with it life subscriptions to The Dickinson Alumnus, ends the payment of annual dues and gives all the rights and privileges of membership in the General Alumni Association. Checks should be sent to The Dickinson Alumnus, Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa.

## THE PRESIDENT'S PAGE

A T THIS time in the academic year the faculty and officers of the College have two major concerns. One involves the final preparation of those who will graduate and the other has to do with the selection of those who will fill the places in the student body vacated by these seniors.

Getting a class ready to graduate involves much more than getting them through the examinations. About fifty per cent of Dickinson graduates go on to graduate school. Bringing this group in contact with the right schools, arranging for their admission and securing for many of them fellowships and scholarships constitute a service which Dickinson renders its seniors. The record of acceptances of Dickinson graduates in graduate schools, especially in medicine, and the number of fellowships granted Dickinson students each year by the universities is a good indication of Dickinson standing of which every Dickinsonian should be proud.

Of the other fifty per cent some have business opportunities waiting for them, while others must search out a place in which he or she may earn a living and begin a career. The College does what it can to help this group also. Through a committee headed by Professor C. J. Carver, as well as by the individual efforts of professors and officers, many graduates are aided in finding their niche in the business world.

Often students in both these groups have financial problems which must be

settled before graduation and here again the College authorities spend much time in seeking and obtaining the solution.

There is no question concerning the College's interest in the student after he graduates and I have often thought that we could do much more for these young people at a time when they particularly need our help, if the alumni understood what the College was attempting to do and made the problem theirs, as well as ours. The alumni could be especially helpful in aiding our graduates who plan to go into business, if they would notify Professor Carver concerning any possible openings in business about which they knew. This suggestion would also be helpful in the case of summer employment for students other than seniors.

The selection of students for the September class is now well under way and the prospects for next year are very promising. More than half of our students are either relatives of alumni or have been recommended to the College by alumni and in this the College needs your continued help. By sending in the names of young people of your acquaintance who are ready for college and by sending us especially the names of your own sons and daughters now, a service is done to the College which is concerned in choosing students with the promise of becoming good Dickinsonians, and a service is done to these young people who should be making definite arrangements for college at this time.

—F. P. Corson

#### Life Members of the General Alumni Association

\*Dr. Charles W. Super 1870 \*Judge Edward W. Biddle 1872

\*Robert H. Conlyn

\*Robert H. Conlyn

\*Dr. Ovando B. Super 1874

\*C. H. Ruhl 1876

\*Rev. George A. Cure

\*Dr. James H. Morgan

1879 Dr. Harold H. Longsdorf

James Hope Caldwell
\*Dr. J. Warren Harper

\*Dr. J. Warren Harper \*Charles K. Zug 1881

\*Edwin H. Linville 1882

\*Lemuel T. Appold \*Peyton Brown 1883

John M. Rhey Dr. Alexander A. Sharp

Dr. M. Gibson Porter

Franklin T. Baker Brig. Gen. Frank R. Keefer Guy Leroy Stevick

Judge Edward M. Biddle \*W. W. Salmon

1887 Dr. Eugene Chaney

\*Dr. W. Blair Stewart

William D. Boyer \*Robert A. Heberling 1889

Mrs. Alice K. Meloy \*W. W. Wharton

Prof. W. W. Landis Prof. C. William Prettyman Rev. Dr. Harry B. Stock 1892

Charles E. Pettinos Rev. Joseph H. Price \*Clarence Balentine
J. Henry Baker
Joseph Bosler, Jr.
William M. Curry
\*Dr. Clyde B. Furst

Mrs. Grace W. Goodyear \*George Metzger Hays

Raphael S. Hays Rev. Dr. Albert E. Piper 1895

Paul Appenzellar \*Miss Amy Fisher Robert H. Richards \*Fred S. Stitt

James L. N. Channell Dr. John R. Edwards Merkel Landis Harry L. Price Ruby R. Vale Dr. Charles E. Zeigler

Dr. Leon Chamberlain
Major General S. D. Embick
Mrs. Anna Geiger Heckman
Dr. Edgar R. Heckman
Dr. David W. Horn
James B. Kremer, Jr.
Samuel H. Miller

Robert Hays Smith
1899
Donald C. Appenzellar
Harry L. Cannon
Rev. Otho C. Miller
Thomas M. Whiteman

Boyd Lee Spahr 1900L L. P. Coblentz

\*Edwin C. Ammerman \*Prof. John D. Brooks Rev. Dr. E. F. Hann Thomas L. Jones Josephine B. Meredith John Perry Wood

Lewis M. Bacon, Jr. \*Dr. William W. Betts William Derr Burkey S. M. Drayer \*Harry L. Dress
E. Garfield Gifford
William H. Hake
M. B. Hockenberry
Dean M. Hoffman
Rev. Dr. Frank D. Lawrence
Joseph W. Milburn
Dr. D. Walter Morton
Reuben F. Nevling
Carl F. New
Florence P. Rothermel
Dr. Wm. C. Sampson
Dr. Warren N. Shuman
General James G. Steese

Beverly W. Brown
Charles S. Evans
Merrill James Haldeman
Dr. D. D. Leib
Dr. Daniel P. Ray
Theodore D. Sloat
R. B. Stauffer
Bishop Robert N. Spencer

Lemon L. Smith
Judge E. Foster Heller
Ivo V. Otto
\*Capt. John Zug Steese

Mrs. Gertrude Heller Barnhart Edward M. Biddle \*Abram Bosler George W. Cass Clarence Dumm Wm. H. Rogers, Esq.

James H. Martin Harry H. Nuttle \*Dr. Herbert N. Shenton Dr. J. I. Tracy

H. Walter Gill Charles M. Kurtz Leon A. McIntire Robert F. Rich Col. Charles M. Steese

1907

\*Benson B. Boss Rev. George H. Ketterer 1909

Charles Langstaff Linette E. Lee Ellsworth H. Mish

<sup>\*</sup>Deceased

#### Life Members of the General Alumni Association

1910

Rev. J. Henry Darlington Walter V. Edwards A. Grace Filler Lydia M. Gooding Arthur J. Latham Marjorie L. McIntire Dr. E. Roger Samuel

1911L

Bayard L. Buckley

1911

Roy Cleaver J. Ernest Crane Charles F. Kramer, Jr. T. B. Miller Rev. Karl Quimby

1912

Mrs. Ruth Heller Bacon Dr. C. C. Bramble Willis K. Glauser John E. Myers Murray H. Spahr S. Walter Stauffer

1913

Dr. Milton Conover
J. H. Hargis
Carl Hartzell
Horace L. Jacobs, Jr.
Dr. Earl S. Johnston
B. O. McAnney
Capt. George M. Steese
P. Earl West

1914

Rev. Lester W. Auman Joel Claster Carlyle R. Earp Dr. C. E. Wagner Clyde M. Williams

1915

Everett E. Borton
\*Dr. R. B. Kistler
\*William R. Mohr
Gilbert Malcolm
Mrs. Ethel Wagg Selby
J. O. Small
David M. Wallace
Dr. G. Floyd Zimmerman

1916

Mrs. A. W. Blumfeld Robert L. Ganoe Reynolds C. Massey 1917

Ralph M. Bashore Dr. Fred P. Corson Dr. O. J. Eichhorn Jacob M. Goodyear W. F. Greenig George C. Hering, Jr. Mrs. Mary Bobb Karns Nora M. Mohler Dr. Roy W. Mohler Dr. Edwin D. Weinberg

1918

Frank E. Masland, Jr. Rev. Herbert K. Robinson Mrs. Constance S. Trees

1919

M. Clare Coleman Miss Isabel K. Endslow Thomas F. Fagan | Dr. William G. Kimmel Catherine E. Lobach Urie D. Lutz Robert E. Minnich

1920

Rev. Harry S. Henck Rowen C. Pearce

1921

I. Howell Kane

1922

Albert Berkey Dr. Harry D. Kruse Raphael E. Rupp Edwin E. Willoughby

1923

Elizabeth M. DeMaris Donald H. Goodyear Alta M. Kimmel Helen E. Shaub Guy E. Waltman

1923L

Lloyd Fisher

1924

Mrs. Ruth B. Raiford Mrs. Frances S. Vuilleumier Dr. John D. Yeagley

1925

Mrs. A. B. Bennethum

1926

Mrs. Helen D. Gallagher Mrs. Janet H. Hartzell Marion L. Herman John W. Mahaley Dr. John P. Milligan Margaret S. Steele Mrs. Charles L. Warren 1927

Christian F. Baiz Dr. J. Wesley Edel G. Harold Keatley Moredeen Plough Fred J. Schmidt Dr. Myron A. Todd

1928

Helen E. Hackman W. Reese Hitchens Arthur Markowitz

1929

Aubrey H. Baldwin, 3d. Lydia B. Betts James Morgan Read

1930

Richard U. Bashor Tobias H. Dunkelberger Dr. Edward Hoberman Edgar J. Kohnstamm Alice E. Hackman A. Caroline Nolen

1931

Dorothy A. Bryan David T. Davis, Jr. J. Boyd Landis Mrs. Janet R. Landis Gladys B. LeFevre Robert T. Patterson Henry B. Suter

1932

M. George Feingold Helmuth W. Joel Boyd Lee Spahr, Jr. Richard H. Zeig!er

1933

Mrs. Gertrude B. Holman Christian C. F. Spahr Gerald L. Zarfos Thos. V. Zug

1934

M. Elinor Betts Mrs. Christina M. Vestling Harry C. Zug

1935

John J. Snyder Howard Crabtree

1936

Sherwin T. McDowell John F. Spahr Kenneth C. Spengler Ruth A. Trout

1937

Mrs. Eva I. Townley

## Mail 1,070 Ballots in Election for Council and Trustee

W ITH the mailing of 1,070 ballots in the annual mail election for Alumni Trustee and Alumni Council to members of the General Alumni Association, a record vote for these offices is forecast.

The polls will close on May 27 when tellers will count the vote and report at the annual meeting of the Association on Alumni Day, June 8. The nominating committee appointed by President J. B. Kremer was composed of Donald H. Goodyear, '23, chairman; William C. Clarke, '95, and R. Paul Masland, '19.

There are three candidates for the office of Alumni Trustee, one to be elected for the four year term expiring in 1944. Heading the list is the name of Lewis M. Bacon, Jr., '02, of Baltimore, Md., present incumbent who has served for some years and who is engaged in the life insurance business. The second name is that of Howard W. Selby, '13, president of the Dickinson Club of Boston, a trustee of Boston University, and the general manager of the United Farmers' Co-operative Creamery Association of Boston, Mass. The third name is that of Dr. Harry D. Kruse, '22, of New York City, a member of the Alumni Council, present vice-president of the General Alumni Association and former secretary of that body, who is director of the Milbank Memorial Fund of New York City.

Five of the ten nominees for the Alumni Council will be elected for a three year term expiring in 1943. The first name on the ballot is that of William A. Jordan, '97, a prominent attorney of Pittsburgh, Pa., where he is active in the affairs of the Dickinson Club. His wife is his former classmate, Helen R. Horn.

Three clergymen are among the nominees. One is the Rev. Wilbur V. Mallalieu, D.D., '99, pastor of Grace Methodist Church, Harrisburg, Pa. Another is the Rev. E. F. Hann, D.D., '01, a Dis-

trict Superintendent in the New Jersey Methodist Conference and a former member of the Alumni Council. The third is the Rev. Frank D. Lawrence, D.D., '02, pastor of the S. D. Cooper Memorial Methodist Church of Philadelphia.

Franklin T. Woodward, '01, president of the Dickinson Club of New York, and patent attorney with the Westinghouse Company, whose two sons are Dickinsonians, is another nominee.

The sixth name on the ballot is that of the author of a number of the Dickinson songs, Benj. Hinchman, '05, who is engaged in the real estate business in Johnstown, Pa., and whose son is a member of the present Freshman Class. His name is followed by that of Judge Karl E. Richards, '10, of Harrisburg, where he is judge of the Orphans' Court, whose son, a graduate of the college, is now attending Dickinson Law School.

The name of Dr. Earl S. Johnston, '13, president of the Dickinson Club of Washington and assistant director of the Smithsonian Institution is the eighth name on the ballot.

The only co-ed nominated is Mrs. Ann Bennett Bennethum, '25, of Wilmington, Del., who married a Dickinsonian, and who is secretary of the newly formed Dickinson Club of Delaware. The last name on the ballot is that of Donald B. Waltman, '29, of York, Pa., husband of M. Isabel McCrone, '29, and Register of Wills of York County, who was on the organization committee of the new Dickinson Club of York.

## Joins Yale Faculty

Paul R. Burkholder, '24, associate professor of plant physiology at the University of Missouri, was appointed in February to the same post at Yale University.

## Form New Alumni Clubs in Delaware and at York, Pa.

WITH fine attendances to auspiciously begin their organization, two new alumni clubs were formed in Wilmington, Del., and York, Pa., during the past two months. There were 116 present at the organization dinner of the Dickinson Club of Delaware in the DuBarry Room of the Hotel DuPont, Wilmington, on March 5, and 50 were on hand for the formation of the Dickinson Club of York at a dinner in the Outdoor Club there on April 17. Officers were elected by each group and plans were made for

annual future parties.

The Rev. Ralph L. Minker, '20, superintendent of the Ferris Industrial School of Wilmington, was elected president of the newly organized Dickinson Club of Delaware. Three vice-presidents from different counties were selected. They are Harry L. Cannon, '99, of Bridgeville, from Sussex; Judge Earl D. Willey, '13, of Dover, from Kent; and Ivan Culbertson from New Castle. Mrs. William H. Bennethum, 3rd, '25, the former Anna L. Bennett, was elected secretary and Leonard G. Hagner, '15, a Wilmington attorney, was chosen treasurer.

President Fred P. Corson was the principal speaker and expressed his gratification at the formation of the club, and called attention to the close connection between Dickinson and Delaware since Governor John Dickinson of Delaware gave his name to the college in 1783. He also spoke of the fact that two former presidents, Dr. James McCauley and Dr. James H. Morgan, were Delawareans, and then mentioned that the banquet was being held in the DuPont Hotel and that Alfred DuPont came to the college in 1816 to study chemistry under the fa-

mous Professor Cooper.

Dean W. H. Hitchler made an address on the "Progress of the Law School," and Professor C. W. Prettyman answered the question "Is Dickinson a Good College?" As Alumni Secretary, Gilbert Malcolm outlined the procedure for the

formation of the club and directed its organization. Other speakers included J. B. Kremer, '97, president of the General Alumni Association; Congressman George S. Williams, '00, and Judge Walter Powell, '78, the oldest class represented, and a classmate and room mate of the late President J. H. Morgan.

George C. Hering, Jr., '17, '21L, a member of the Board of Trustees and prominent Wilmington attorney, who was chairman of the organization committee, acted as toastmaster. The Rev. Dr. J. W. Colona, '99, offered the in-

vocation.

The parents of three students were present and were introduced by Mr. Hering. They were Mrs. J. Burton Mc-Cabe, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph B. Green and Mr. and Mrs. Fred Dautel.

With 50 present, the Dickinson Club of York was organized at a meeting held in the Outdoor Club on April 17. Officers were elected and plans made for annual dinners and activities of the club.

Earl M. Schroeder, '26, was elected president. John E. Brenneman, '13, '20L, who is district attorney of York County, was elected one of the vice-presidents and Dorothy M. Badders, '32, was also so named. J. Richard Budding, '32, '36L, was chosen secretary-treasurer. Others who assisted these officers as members of the Organization Committee, were W. Burg Anstine, John A. Dempwolf, John D. Yeagley and Richard Kohler.

Speakers were President F. P. Corson, Dean W. H. Hitchler and Judge Harvey Gross, '03L, of the York County bench. In his role as Alumni Secretary, Gilbert Malcolm acted as toastmaster and presided over the business session effecting the organization of the club and the election of officers.

The Rev. E. C. Myers, '24, pastor of the First Methodist Church of York, offered the invocation. Clyde M. Hughes, '14, led the singing with Prof. Horace E. Rogers, at the piano.

## Becomes Atlantic County Judge in New Jersey

CLIMAXING a brief political career which began in 1933 when he was appointed sergeant-at-arms of the New Jersey Senate, Thomas D. Taggart, Jr., '23L, attorney and state senator of New Jersey for Atlantic County since 1937, was appointed senior judge of the Atlantic County Common Pleas Court on March 11.

Judge Taggart has served in both houses of the State legislature and has been municipal judge of Atlantic City. A year after his appointment as sergeant-at-arms of the Senate, he was elected a member of the New Jersey Assembly and was reelected in 1935 and 1936. In 1937 he became a member of the State Senate, resigning to accept the judgeship. From 1935 to 1937 he was judge of the municipal court of Atlantic City.

During his service in the legislature, Judge Taggart successfully steered through the legislature a law legalizing pari-mutuel betting at horse races in New Jersey. This required a constitutional amendment and his battle for the change won him state-wide notice.

The youngest member of the New Jersey Senate upon his election in 1937, Judge Taggart was graduated from the Atlantic City High School in 1920 and from the Dickinson School of Law three years later. He served his law clerkship with the late Judge Theodore Schimph, of Atlantic City and after his admission to the bar was associated in the practice of law with John W. Parsons, Jr., '15L.

The Atlantic City Press of March 15, calling Taggart a man who takes his politics seriously and pointing to conditions in the county, said editorially, "Tom Taggart has a great opportunity. Our community needs a political leadership which can talk turkey to malefactors of high and low degree—those who wear diamond stickpins and talk out of the corners of the mouth and those who belong to the best clubs and perhaps go to



THOMAS J. TAGGART

church on Sunday. We don't know that Taggart can measure up, or if he can that he will, but if he does, there's a pot of fame in it for him and the undying gratitude of those citizens—non-political and in the dark as to what it's all about —who constitute the great unorganized masses."

#### On Maine Governor's Cabinet

Joel G. Earnest, '27L, director of the bureau of home relief in New York City, was appointed commissioner of health and welfare of the state of Maine by Governor Lewis O. Barrows on January 28.

A graduate of Lafayette College, Mr. Earnest practiced law in Harrisburg for five years after his graduation from the Law School, before going to New York, where he was assistant to Miss Charlotte Carr, now of Hull House, Chicago, who was then director of emergency relief in New York. When Miss Carr went to Chicago, Earnest succeeded her as director until the close of the emergency relief program.

## Open Second Year Campaign for Law School Fund

IN A four page printed broadside the officers opened the second year's campaign in April for the Dickinson School of Law Alumni Fund, at the same time issuing a report showing that 166 contributors gave \$2,285.50 in 1939, when the fund was organized. This was an average contribution of \$13.75.

Pledging that "contributions will not be used to meet current running expenses, but only for uses of vital and continuing service to the school and its students," Prof. Harold S. Irwin, treasurer, outlines the proposed uses of all gifts and reports of the expenditures of the 1939 receipts.

"The particularly pressing needs for further funds from present and future annual campaigns are to secure funds that may be used as scholarship endowments," Prof. Irwin's statement reads and follows "The school, since becoming a member of the Association of American Law Schools, is competing with the best and most heavily endowed schools in the state and country, with ample funds for scholarship grants. Frequently, able and worthy students who would prefer to study here are lured to other schools solely by promises of scholarship payments. In addition, further improvements are needed to the physical equipment of the Law School to maintain it in the front rank of Law Schools. A room for Moot and Practice Courts, locker rooms for the students are badly needed.

His report of the 1939 campaign shows that only \$220.55 was needed for promotion to cover costs of postage, printing, stationery, typing, mimeographing, etc. Of the remaining \$2,064.95, a contractor received \$842 for installing steel beams as supports for the library floor, walling up openings, plastering and painting. Then the report reads as follows: "A large portion of the balance has been allocated to the installation of new lighting fixtures in the classrooms and library. All arrangements have been

made with an electrical contractor to meet this long felt need for improving the conditions under which the students study in the library. It is expected that lamps will be installed on the library tables as well as improving the ceiling lights. The balance then remaining, which will be small, will be allocated to further physical improvements and to the endowment fund."

#### Roommates Mayoralty Rivals

Two men who roomed together while students in the Law School are candidates for Mayor of Rahway, N. J., on the opposing tickets.

Mayor John E. Barger, '28L, Democratic Mayor of Rahway, will be his party's candidate in the November election, at which the Republican candidate will be Ferdinard P. Wolcott, '30L.

#### Medical Society Elects

Dr. William K. McBride, '23, the present city treasurer of Harrisburg, was inducted as president of the Dauphin County Medical Society at a meeting on January 9 at the Academy of Medicine Building. Dr. A. Harvey Simmons was re-elected secretary-treasurer of the society, and Dr. Charles William Smith, '33, was elected reporter.

## MacAndrews Breaks Three Ribs

Struck by a batted ball during baseball practice, Coach R. H. MacAndrews suffered painful injury and three broken ribs early this month. After several days in the hospital, "Mac" returned to duty wearing the same sort of adhesive he has taken delight in winding about his athletes for years. It is reported that "Mac" discovered that adhesive tape does feel a little tight when the fellow putting it on pulls with all he's got!

## EDITORIAL

## An Alumni Responsibility

IME does more to an alumnus than make him old. Under the highly competitive system created by the development of the tax-supported as against the privately endowed college like Dickinson, the alumnus faces and ought to assume a responsibility the graduates of a half century ago never considered, perhaps didn't need to consider.

What is really happening in these days is a stern contest for the survival of the fittest among the privately endowed institutions of higher learning. It is especially true in Pennsylvania. Dickinson cannot escape the struggle. It is in it waist-deep right now. And no finer support can come from any source than from the graduates and former students, all of them Dickinsonians.

From President Corson's office already has gone the customary annual appeal for alumni to survey their own provinces for likely prospects for matriculation at Carlisle. It is an intelligent and appropriate appeal. Alumni cannot in good faith be unresponsive to it. Indeed, many have reacted with gratifying results.

A recent number of The Alumnus recounted that of 182 students matriculating last September, 96 indicated that they had been directed to Dickinson by alumni. Forty of them are related to Dickinsonians in one degree or another. That is an inspiring record for any college alumni group and in these days a very necessary one.

It is doubtful if Dickinsonians will ever be or ever want to be relieved of this responsibility or stripped of this opportunity to render such a service to the college. More and more the future of an institution like Dickinson depends for its student body and its financial needs on the students who have passed through its class rooms. The Alumni Fund is the expression of that service in one field. To interest prospective students in the educational values of the college is its expression in another.

There is little doubt in the minds of college administrators that the small, liberal arts, privately endowed college of the Dickinson type can face its future with every confidence if its alumni will "play the game." Without such loyalty, the future of such institutions is anything but inviting.

## Be a "Lifer"

HE temptation to keep reiterating the desirability of life membership in the General Alumni Association is irresistible. The motive is selfish only to the extent of building sturdy foundations on which this helpful agency of the former students, grads and undergrads, can function.

Whatever criticism is raised against the accumulation of funds and the creation of endowments, designed to function far into the future, it does not apply to educational and affiliated institutions chartered for endless service to humanity.

The General Alumni Association's "expectancy" matches that of the college itself. The welfare of the college is its mission. The more endowment the Association accumulates the more effective must be its service and the more certainly it will survive to serve.

It is gratifying to know that from the last report there are 252 life memberships. These do not lapse with the passing of the member. Not only his soul but his substance goes marching on. Thus more than \$10,000 has been accumulated

through such memberships, the income of which is being used to promote the welfare of Dickinson through the alumni's own agency.

Only a small area in the field of opportunity has been occupied by the General Alumni Association. More and more needs to be taken over as income from the life

membership fund increases.

And if only subscription to THE ALUMNUS were involved, then self-interest alone should prompt life membership by almost any age group in the graduate body. Any alumnus expecting to live one year more than twenty loses every year thereafter by not becoming a "lifer." Thus even the appeal to the purse is as strong as the appeal to a loyal Dickinsonian heart.

## Come Back

A DMINISTRATORS of the College are no more eager to have alumni return for Commencement than the officers of the General Alumni Association. Quite apart from the social intercourse of this annual ceremonial, there is involved in the return of a graduate to his alma mater a psychological value both to the alumnus and to the institution which cannot be minimized.

Again this year an enjoyable program has been arranged. The pattern adopted last year will be followed at the Commencement luncheon to the gratification of virtually "all comers." Again the idea of the old "Junior Prom" with its band on the campus sparkling with Oriental lanterns. Again old friends. Again for "old grads" the spectacle of young students launching themselves into a difficult world. Everything can be guaranteed but the weather and the inside dope of that is good.

'Come Back to Commencement."

#### Fine Altoona Party

The nicest party in its history was held by the Dickinson Club of Altoona on April 22 in a dinner meeting at the Penn Alto Hotel attended by 50 persons.

Park H. Loose, president of the club, presided and introduced J. Banks Kurtz, who acted as toastmaster. In his speech, Judge Fred S. Reese of the Cumberland County courts and member of the Law School faculty, paid a fine tribute to Dr. W. H. Hitchler for his work as dean of the law school.

Prof. Charles L. Swift enlivened the occasion with a witty speech on the "Boys of Today," while a pleasant feature of the program was the singing of a group of songs by Mrs. Karl F. Irwin with her husband at the piano. Dean Hitchler and Gilbert Malcolm were the other speakers, while the Rev. W. L. Armstrong, '00, offered the invocation.

Park H. Loose, president; Mrs. E. W. Stitzel, vice-president; J. Resler Shultz, secretary, and John M. Klepser, treasurer were reelected.

#### **Baltimore Annual Reunion**

The Dickinson Club of Baltimore held its annual reunion and dinner on Friday evening, April 29th, at the Merchants Club, situated on the site of Old Lovely Lane Meeting House in Baltimore where the Methodist Episcopal Church was organized at the Christmas Conference of 1784.

Cornelius Pat Mundy, '25L, presided as toastmaster in his usual jovial manner and introduced Professor Norcross, Dean Hitchler of the Law School, Gilbert Malcolm, editor of the DICKINSON ALUMNUS and President Corson, who spoke of the present and future Dickinson.

Chamber music was played during dinner by the Colonial Trio.

The officers elected to serve in 1940-41 are: Dr. S. Luther Bare, Westminster, Md., President; Vice-Presidents, Robert A. Waidner, Esq., Rev. James J. Resh; Treasurer, Miss Ann V. Reese, '39, and Secretary, Charles Wesley Orem, '35, 5511 Wayne Avenue, Baltimore.

## Corporation Head Extols Joys of Literature

For its sheer appeal to the cultured mind and for its revelations of the enchantment of one species of "double life," The Alumnus herewith presents, without his knowledge or permission, an address delivered to the Achievement Club of Dictaphone Corporation by the chairman of the board, Paul Appenzellar, '95, at New Orleans this winter. Discussion of this address displaced the regular lesson of one of the classes in literature at Columbia University, recently.—The Editor.

THE theme of my talk this evening is that of the advantages and pleasure that come from leading a double life: I shall give no advice—simply tell a story and leave to you the drawing of any conclusion, and I hasten to explain that by a "double life" I mean a life with an avocation as well as a vocation. The dictionary describes an avocation as a "casual

occupation—a diversion."

When my vocation was determined I began my search for an avocation. Music was out of the question: I couldn't whistle Yankee Doodle. I was a cousin of the old woman who said, "The only two pieces I know are Pop Goes the King and God Save the Weasel." Athletics? No, I was lazy. Art? Absolutely not: I didn't know whether angels, although pictured entirely undraped, are males or females (and I don't know today). And then a boyhood liking reasserted itself, and I knew that in the study of poetry I could find the equivalent of an avocation. I recall well that, when a boy, I answered and shocked a minister who inquired as to the kind of books I liked to read by quoting a stanza from a book of verses. I said "My favorite books are ones that tell

'Of fair haired blue-eyed maids of old In durance held by grim magicians: Of knights in armour rough with gold Who rescued them from such positions.'"

This, of course, was fine preparation for a banking and business career. Parenthetically, the minister countered by handing me a slip of paper on which he had written "Read and heed Colossians third chapter second verse." I managed, with some difficulty, to locate the family Bible and found Colossians—and the chapter and verse. It read, "Set your affections on things above. Not on things on the

earth." Had I followed this advice, I certainly should not be here as your Chairman.

And so from early in my business career, evening after evening, I journeyed to a land of "make believe," and the windows of a Manhattan apartment became

". . . magic casements opening on the foam Of perilous seas, in faery lands forlorn." And over those seas I sailed to many lands. Rupert Brooke took me to the battlefields of France: Robert Browning to Italy. Housman took me many an evening to his Shropshire fields where "by brooks too broad for leaping" I lounged about with his country lads. With Tennyson I looked in on King Arthur's Knights at their Round Table, and followed with interest and delight their jousts. I often went to that mysterious palace that Kubla Khan built in far-off Xanadu

"Where Alph—the sacred river, ran Through caverns measureless to man Down to a sunless sea."

I made many times the pilgrimage to Canterbury Cathedral with Chaucer and his friends, and how much more interesting were my later real trips there because I had first gone with him! Robert Frost took me to northern New England, often in the middle of winter—a trip I wouldn't have considered had I been unable to make it in a comfortable chair before an open fire. I traveled widely, and in such interesting company.

Many evenings were outstanding because of a find—a nugget of gold! All of you are familiar with Whistler's portrait of his mother. A ribald story is difficult in a room where a copy of that picture hangs. I had a thrill when, years ago, I found in an anthology a similar

portrait in words—three short stanzas by an Irish poet, Joseph Campbell. I'll let his words paint a picture for you:

"As a white candle
In a holy place,
So is the beauty
Of an aged face.

As the spent radiance Of the winter sun, So is a woman With her travel done,

Her brood gone from her,
And her thoughts as still
As the waters
Under a ruined mill."

Occasionally a stray line might mark an evening—a line to tuck away in memory—of no use, perhaps, but does that make it any less worth while? What line? Sara Teasdale gave me one: "Lost as a sob in the midst of cheering." You'd pause a minute when you read that, wouldn't you?

With no training to let me appreciate the treasures of an art museum. I happily could sometimes see them through a poet's eyes. I might see an old urn girdled with carved figures and find it mildly interesting. What did Keats see where I could see so little? He saw time standing still—life frozen. Do you know his "Ode on a Grecian Urn"? Many consider it the most beautiful poem in the English language. I wish that I might read it all to you.

"Fair youth, beneath the trees, thou canst not

Thy song, nor ever can these trees be bare; Bold lover, never, never canst thou kiss, Thou winning near the goal—yet, do not grieve;

She cannot fade, though thou hast not thy bliss,

For ever wilt thou love, and she be fair."

On some evenings I found myself in a mood to read Swinburne. Many of his poems I don't understand; but I enjoy, as perhaps you have enjoyed, the music of his words and lines. You possibly do not agree, as I do, with the philosophy of life expressed in "The Garden of Proserpine," but you surely thrill to the music of the words:

"From foo much love of living, From hope and fear set free, We thank with brief thanksgiving, Whatever gods may be, That no life lives forever, That dead men rise up never, That even the weariest river Winds somewhere safe to sea.

Then star nor sun shall waken, Nor any change of light: Nor sound of water shaken, Nor any sound or sight: Nor wintry leaves nor vernal Nor days nor things diurnal; Only a sleep eternal In an eternal night."

Did I come home discouraged by a day's disappointments? I read Arthur Clough's "Say Not The Struggle Naught Availeth," and I knew that I was just a coward. If you come home from a day of disappointments, might it not encourage you to read from that poem:

Say not the struggle naught availeth, The labor and the wounds are vain, The enemy faints not, nor faileth, And as things have been they remain. If hopes were dupes, fears may be liars; It may be in yon smoke concealed, Your comrades chase e'en now the fliers, And but for your possess the field."

And, but for you, possess the field." Bound by the ties of a legal marriage, is romance fading? You might buy a copy of Edwin Arlington Robinson's "Tristram" and spend some hours in Old England, and in Brittany, and learn how to "make love" as those old knights and princesses did. You may feel that they were a bit too strenuous for your copying in these different and hectic times, but you'll enlarge your vocabulary and perhaps change the character of your dreams. When you uncurl from your cozy chair, a bit dazed, you may hurry to the next room where your wife is quietly sewing and, as Gawaine to Isolt, say, "My dear, 'Your low voice tells how bells of singing

Would sound through twilight over quiet water."

If you do, she'll probably faint, but she'll like it

But there I am, giving advice which I promised not to do. I planned only to tempt you. Forget it all!

#### North Jersey Alumni Dine

An impromptu address by Mrs. Florence McIntire, widow of Professor B. O. McIntire, easily stole the spotlight and dimmed the performances of the scheduled speakers at the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey held in the Women's Club at Morristown on May 7 when 52 were present. In a charming manner, she gave a report of the doings in Carlisle which delighted her hearers.

In the absence of President Corson, Professor C. J. Carver, secretary of the faculty, spoke as his representative and outlined the threats against the future of the liberal arts college and asked the alumni for their support in guarding against any encroachments. J. B. Kremer, president of the General Alumni Association, and Gilbert Malcolm were the other speakers. Rev. Edwin L. Earp, '95, offered the invocation.

Raymond E. Hearn, '24, who was reelected as president, acted as toastmaster. Robert F. Lavanture, '31, and Leon D. Sloan, '33, were re-elected vice-president and secretary-treasurer respectively.

## Pittsburgh Club Meets

The annual meeting of the Dickinson Club of Pittsburgh was held at a luncheon in the Roosevelt Hotel at noon on March 16 when 39 were present. It was the second function held by the club during the year. On October 21, the club held a dinner in Washington, Pa., following the W. & J. football game.

Abner H. Bagenstose, '17, was elected president succeeding Harry E. Brumbaugh, '14, who acted as toastmaster at the luncheon. Blanche E. Stewart, '19, was re-elected vice-president and Nicholas Unkovic, '27L, secretary-treasurer.

Speakers at the luncheon were Andrew H. Phelps, officer of the Westinghouse Company and member of the Board of Trustees; President F. P. Corson, Dean W. H. Hitchler and Gilbert Malcolm.

#### Entertain Boston Alumni

An unusually pleasant evening was enjoyed by the members of the Dickinson Club of Boston on April 12 when 30 were entertained at the palatial home of Mr. and Mrs. Howard W. Selby in West Newton, Mass. Mr. Selby, who graduated in 1913, is president of the Boston Club and with A. Norman Needy, '16, secretary-treasurer, was reelected.

Mrs. Selby is the former Ethel Wagg, '15, and she proved an exceptional hostess tendering a sumptuous buffet

dinner to the guests.

President Fred P. Corson and Gilbert Malcolm attended the function and were guests of Mr. and Mrs. Selby during their stay in Boston. Plans were discussed for a meeting in the coming fall season.

**Publishes Dissertation** 

A dissertation, "Young People and the Church," has just been published by the Rev. Jacob A. Long, Ph.D., '25. Dr. Long is executive secretary of the Presbytery of Philadelphia, North, with offices in Philadelphia.

His dissertation is a study of the attitudes of the Pittsburgh Presbyterian young people toward the church and its program, and based on the findings of the investigation makes definite recommendations for reconstructing this program.

Writes Book on Methodism

A volume entitled, "The Beginnings of Methodism in England and America," has recently come from the press. It is the work of Reverend Francis H. Tees, '99, pastor of historic Old St. George's Church in Philadelphia.

Of it Professor Garber, of Duke University, says: "The author has rendered a vital service. Dr. Tees has done more than record historical data, for the readers of this volume will be inspired to emulate the courage, devotion and warmth of heart that characterized the leaders of pioneer American Methodism."

## Dickinson Supplies A Portia to the New Jersey Bar

A FTER her graduation from the College in 1936, Dorothy V. Reeve, of Toms River, N. J., instead of continuing in law school began a clerkship in a law office and last October took the New Jersey bar examinations, passed them successfully, and with appropriate ceremonies in Trenton was sworn in as the first woman attorney of Ocean County on February 20.

Miss Reeve is the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Reuben H. Reeve, of Toms River. She was born in Summit, N. J., on April 6, 1914. She attended the Toms River schools graduating from the high school there in 1931. She returned to the high school for a year of post-graduate work before entering the college in 1932.

While an undergraduate of the college, she served as secretary to Mrs. Josephine B. Meredith, dean of women. She is a member of Pi Beta Phi and inher Senior year was president of Wheel and Chain. She graduated with a Ph.B degree and Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1936.

In college she was a law elective and took several courses in the Law School. Upon her graduation, she began a three year law clerkship in the offices of Ewart & Bennett, of Toms River, where she now maintains her office.

While not the first woman to pass the New Jersey bar examinations, she is the first woman practicing attorney in Ocean County. She was one of the 139 out of 288 persons who took the October examinations to pass.

She is a member of the Methodist Church and active in Toms River affairs. She is the president of the Toms River High School Alumni Association.

#### New York Alumnae Meet

The New York Alumnae Club met on May 11 at the home of Mrs. G. Grant Cleaver, '02, in Richmond Hill, N. Y. Mrs. Cleaver served luncheon and follow-



DOROTHY V. REEVE

ing a business meeting there was a social program including games and singing.

The officers were re-elected as follows: Alta M. Kimmel, '23, president; Mrs. John R. Clark, '19, vice-president and Aida T. Harris, '38, secretary-treasurer.

## Dine in Nation's Capital

Dr. Charles G. Abbot, director of the Smithsonian Institution, was the principal speaker at the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Washington on the evening of April 12. Rain which turned to an unexpected snow coupled with a drop in the temperature kept some away. There were 34 present.

In his address Dr. Abbot gave some interesting facts relating to the early history of the Smithsonian Institution and the important role played by Prof. Spencer Fullerton Baird of the class of 1840, just 100 years ago.

Dr. Earl S. Johnston, '13, president of the club and assistant director of the Smithsonian Institution presided; Dean and Mrs. E. A. Vulleumier were guests at the dinner, and the Dean spoke briefly.

#### Trenton Alumni Sing

Group singing led by William G. Green, '29, and a banner attendance were features of the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Trenton held at Fisher's on March 8. There were 60 present, the largest attendance in the history of the club.

In the business session, the club set March 7, 1941 as the date of the next annual dinner. Stanley G. Wilson, '15, who acted as toastmaster, was re-elected president of the club. Charles Quinn, '24L, was elected a vice-president, while Dr. J. A. Vanneman, '10, was re-elected as a vice-president and John H. Platt, '25, was again named secretary-treasurer.

The Rev. Curwin B. Fisher, '88, of Mt. Holly, N. J., was introduced as the representative of the earliest class at the dinner. The invocation was given by the Rev. Ira S. Pimm, '19.

The Rev. Jacob A. Long, '25, opened the speaking program with an eulogy to the memory of Dr. J. H. Morgan.

Mr. Quinn, new vice-president, introduced Dean W. H. Hitchler, who was followed by J. B. Kremer, president of the General Alumni Association. After a few remarks by Gilbert Malcolm, President F. P. Corson concluded the speaking program.

Throughout the dinner, "Bill" Green, who is on the staff of the Trenton Y. M. C. A., led the group in stunt singing as well as in renditions of the songs of Dickinson and did a fine job of it.

## Alumni Meet in Williamsport

With 31 present the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of West-Branch Valley was held in the Village Tea Room, Williamsport, Pa., on April 2. Flood conditions in the neighboring territory prevented the attendance of many Dickinsonians.

In the illness of Dr. William D. Angle, president of the club, the Rev. Herbert P. Beam, '20, vice-president, acted as toastmaster. The speakers were

Dean W. H. Hitchler and Gilbert Malcolm. Dr. John W. Long, '07, president of Dickinson Seminary, offered the invocation.

A proposal to hold annual dinners in the fall of the year instead of in the spring was discussed and referred to the new officers. In the election, the Rev. Mr. Beam was elected president, Clyde E. Carpenter, '26, vice-president, and Mrs. John T. Shuman, '30, secretary treasurer.

#### Address Features Reading Dinner

An address by Hanns Gramm, head of the department of industrial relations at the Textile Machine Works, Reading, proved the high-light of the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Reading-Berks held in the Abraham Lincoln Hotel, Reading, on April 18. Calling on the alumni to aid in the solution of the problem of employment and future happiness for the youth of today, he declared that "business should embrace our young people and give them their opportunity."

In his message, Mr. Gramm said that the problem of what to say to and what to do with the young people who come from our high schools is one of the greatest before the American people today. He declared that business needed skilled labor and that there were opportunities to care for some of the unemployment by providing skilled labor for business.

J. Wilmer Fisher, retiring president, acted as toastmaster. Speakers were Prof. C. William Prettyman, Dean W. H. Hitchler and President Corson. Impromptu speeches were made by Judge Robert Mays, Miss Edna Handwork, '12, and Gilbert Malcolm.

William L. Eshelman, '15, of Mohnton, was elected president and spoke briefly after his election. L. R. Bingaman, '31, '33L, was named vice-president and Mrs. Sidney D. Kline, '27, was re-elected secretary-treasurer.

## PERSONALS

1892

Mrs. Hoyt Sherman Griffith, of Chestnut Hill, Pa., daughter of William W. Hepburn, died on February 23 in a Los Angeles hospital of leukemia. Mrs. Griffith had been ill for a year and went to California last fall with her husband and 14 year old son in search of health. In 1924, Mrs. Griffith was married in a fashionable double wedding at which her sister, Jane Shaw Hepburn, was married to Morris Dixon.

J. Elder Williams, husband of Mrs. Martha Sellers Williams and father of Mrs. Harper R. Leming, '25, all of Carlisle, died after a long

illness on April 30.

The Rev. George M. Frownfelter, of Mifflinville, was retired at the April session of the Central Pennsylvania Methodist Conference.

1897

F. B. Sellers, Jr., Carlisle attorney, was reelected senior warden and treasurer of St. John's Episcopal Church of Carlisle at the annual meeting in April. Judge Fred S. Reese and Robert Lee Jacobs, '32, were reelected vestrymen at the same meeting.

Hugh R. Miller, who was a patient for over a year in the United States Naval Hospital in Philadelphia, returned to Carlisle in February, where he is a patient at the Burkholder

Convalescing Home.

1900

Rev. William L. Armstrong formerly pastor of the Methodist Church in Emporium, Pa., became pastor of the Eighth Avenue Methodist Church, Altoona, Pa., in April.

The 40th Reunion of 1900 is slated for the

coming Commencement, June 7 to 10. The Rev. Henry E. Walhey was elected and appointed to the field secretaryship of the Methodist Home for the Aged in Philadelphia at the April session of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference. His office is in the Wesley Building, 17th and Arch Streets, Philadelphia, and his home address is The Wayne Manor Apartments, 6200 Wayne Avenue, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pa.

With the last Philadelphia conference of the Methodist Church, Dr. John C. Bieri announced his retirement. After a rest in Florida and attendance of the General Conference at Atlantic City, Dr. Bieri was sched-uled to sail May 17 for a year in South America visiting the mission and leper colonies. His daughter, Kathryn plans to join him in September. His South American residence will be at Casilla 67, Santiago, Chile.

1905

Rev. Dr. J. Edgar Skillington was one of the two clerical representatives of the Northeastern jurisdiction elected to the General Commission on World Service and Finance of the united Methodist Church at its general conference in Atlantic City. The other was Rev. Dr. Charles W. Kitto, '12.

Edna Albert, Gardners, Pa., has laid the plans for the 35th Reunion of 1905 to be

observed June 9 and 10 during Commence-

1907

Elizabeth Jane Keen, of Lykens, Pa., daughter of E. LeRoy Keen, prominent Dauphin County attorney, is enrolled as a Freshman for the academic year to begin in September. She was the first girl registered for the next year.

1909

Susan F. Smith, of Caldwell, N. J., daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Thos. A. Smith, Jr., was registered in February as a student of the college for the coming academic year. She will graduate with honors in June from the Grover Cleveland High School, Caldwell, N. J. Her father is second vice-president of the Commercial Casualty Insurance Company of Newark.

1910

A. Grace Filler, who is Dean of Girls in the Radnor, Pa., High School, is a member of the research committee of the Pennsylvania Association of Deans of Women.

Lina M. Hartzell, of Carlisle, Pa., is setting the stage for the 30th Reunion of 1910 which will be observed during the coming Com-mencement, June 7 to 10. The class dinner will be Sunday, June 9.

1911

H. M. Corning will retire as head of the public school system of Colorado Springs, Col., on July 1 having tendered his resignation in February so that he might spend a year in advanced study of educational problems. His resignation ended thirteen years as head of the school system there. 1912

Rev. Dr. Charles W. Kitto was one of the two clerical representatives of the North-eastern jurisdiction elected to the General Commission on World Service and Finance of the united Methodist Church at its general conference in Atlantic City, N. J. The other was Rev. Dr. J. Edgar Skillington, '05.

Murray H. Spahr was recently re-elected a

Republican committeeman for the Rosemont

district of Montgomery County, Pa.

#### 1914L

Mary Ellen Snyder, daughter of Clinton T. Snyder attorney of Catasauqua, Pa., has been enrolled as a student of the college for the academic year to begin in September. She will graduate from Catasauqua High School in June probably with first or second honors.

1915

Paul H. Neff, the son of the Rev. and Mrs. J. Luther Neff of Washington, D. C., was enrolled in March as a student for the academic year to begin in September. He will graduate from the Woodrow Wilson High School in June.

On April 10, Commander W. W. Edel entertained Gilbert Malcolm, Judge Herbert G. Cochrane, '08, Martin O. Kahn, '34, Mrs. John L. Gall, '12, and C. W. Warren, 23, at a luncheon in the Officers' Club of the U. S. Naval Base at Norfolk, Va. "Bill" arranged the party as a greeting to Malcolm who was combining a trip to the Boston alumni club with a sea vacation on a voyage from Baltimore to Boston.

While there hasn't been any advance publicity, the 25th Reunion of 1915 will be a noisy celebration during the coming Commencement. The class dinner will be on Sunday, June 9.

1917L

Frank L. Johnson, Jr., son of Frank L. Johnson, attorney of Woodbury, N. J., will enter college as a Freshman in September. He will graduate from Woodbury High School in June.

1918

Professor Albert H. Gerberich, of the college faculty, addressed the Historical Society of Dauphin County in February reviewing the history of the Swatara valley of Dauphin and Lebanon counties.

1919

Isabel K. Endslow is Dean of Girls in the Lower Merion Junior High School and lives in Ardmore, Pa.

1920

William T. Long recently became city at-

torney of Westfield, N. J. The 20th Reunion of 1920 will be celebrated at coming Commencement, June 7 to 10. The class dinner will be on Sunday, June 9.

1921

A son, Richard Boyd, was born to Mr. and Mrs. P. B. Scott, of Harrisburg, on July 12, 1939. Mrs. Scott was E. Winifred Fagan, of Carlisle, a graduate of Shippensburg in 1923.

1922

Dr. Harry D. Kruse, of the Milbank Memorial Fund, New York, is co-discoverer that riboflavin, one of the vitamins formerly lumped under Vitamin B, will both prevent and cure keratitis, an eye disease which causes blindness in babies.

The Rev. Roland R. Lehman, pastor of Trinity Church, Clearfield, Pa., was pastorhost to the 72d session of the Central Pennsylvania Methodist Church in April. Some 500 churches were represented at the session by ministerial and lay delegates.

1924

Betty Jean Faddis, daughter of Robt. E. Faddis, member of the faculty of the Millburn High School, Millburn, N. J., was registered on May 1 as a member of the Freshman class entering the college next September.

1925

Mary E. Thomes, secretary of the Mechanicsburg Chamber of Commerce, attended the annual convention of the National Credit Association and the Columbia Regional Conference held in Baltimore in February.

Rev. W. L. Crowding, of Waynesboro, Pa., was elected secretary of the 72nd session of the Central Pennsylvania Methodist Con-

ference held in Clearfield in April.

Mr. and Mrs. Harper L. Leming, of Carlisle, announced the birth of a son, John Harper Leming, on April 5. Mrs. Leming is the former Martha Elizabeth Williams.

The Class of 1925 will celebrate its 15th Reunion at the coming Commencement, June 7 to 10. It will sit together at the Alumni Luncheon on Saturday and the class dinner will be on Sunday, June 9.

George H. Armacost, who is associate professor of education in the College of William and Mary, is engaged in investigating personnel work in colleges as a foundation for a more adequate personnel program for students expecting to enter the teaching field.

Solomon Hurwitz, attorney of Harrisburg, Pa., was married on April 9 to Miss Martha Lehrman, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Louis Lehrman, of Harrisburg, at the home of the

bride's sister in Minneapolis.

The Rev. and Mrs. William A. MacLachlan now reside at 7101 N. 20th St., Philadelphia. At the recent session of the Philadelphia Conference, Mr. MacLachlan was appointed to Grace Methodist Church, Philadelphia, after serving as pastor of the Alice Focht Memorial Methodist Church of Birdsboro, Pa.

1926L

Thomas E. Whitten, of Wilkinsburg, Pa., was nominated in the 31st Congressional District to be a delegate to the national convention of the Republican Party.

A daughter, Alice Lillian, was born to Mr. and Mrs. Ralph O. Burrows, of East Stroudsburg, Pa., on November 10, 1939. Mrs. Burrows was Reba B. Scott. Mr. Burrows is principal of the East Stroudsburg Junior High School.

#### 1928

The Rev. F. D. Milbury, pastor of the Methodist Church in Federalsburg, Md., will preside at the evening session on May 17 of the Peninsula Methodist Conference to be held in Grace Church, Wilmington, Del.

#### 1930

Robert L. Brunhouse, member of the faculty of Drexel Institute of Technology, Philadelphia, received the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the mid-year commencement of the University of Pennsylvania in February. He is the author of "Lascars in Pennsylvania: A Side-Light on the China Trade," which appeared in the January 1940 issue of Pennsylvania History.

Rev. Everett F. Hallock, who has been pastor of the Methodist Church in Orange, N. J., for the past three years, in April was called to the Rutherford Methodist Church. His new address is 60 West Passaic Avenue,

Rutherford, N. J.

The 10th Reunion of 1930 will be celebrated at the coming Commencement, June 7 to 10 with the class dinner on Sunday, June 9.

#### 1931

Mr. and Mrs. J. Boyd Landis, of Carlisle, announced the birth of a daughter, Mary Gordon, on May 2. They have another daughter, Betty Boyd, who is three years old.

Rev. James G. Glenn who for the past three years has been pastor of the Clifton and Morenci Presbyterian Churches in Arizona, accepted a call to the Presbyterian Church of

Borger, Texas, in February.

Jane Isabelle Heisey, daughter of Mrs. John A. Heisey, of Camp Hill, Pa., was married at her home on February 24 to Donald F. Rohrer, son of Mrs. Frederick Finel Rohrer, of Wilkinsburg. Her sister, Virginia Heisey, '39, was her attendant. The bride since her graduation has been a member of the faculty of the Fleetwood High School. Mr. Rohrer, who graduated from the Pittsburgh High School and Antioch College, is associated with the Traveler's Insurance Company. The couple now reside in Wilkinsburg.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Lee Jacobs, of Carlisle, announced the birth of a daughter, Elizabeth

Hays Jacobs, on March 6.

Dr. and Mrs. Walter S. Booth, of Elizabeth, N. J., announce the birth of a daughter, Patricia Kay, on February 10. Mrs. Booth is the former Matilda M. Nogi.

1933

Dr. James Donald Woodruff, assistant resident in gynecology at the Johns Hopkins

Hospital, Baltimore, has been awarded a fellowship from the Nemours Foundation for research in the field of medical aid for crippled children. His work, which will begin in July, is a project entitled, "Follow-up study of cases of pyelitis of infancy and childhood with an attempt to learn the ultimate prognosis of the best method of treatment."

Jack B. Daugherty, coach at the Cherry Tree, Pa., high school for the past six years, has been elected football coach at Philipsburg High School. His Cherry Tree team was un-

defeated last year.

J. Carleton Godlove is studying political science at the University of Pennsylvania

graduate school.

Katherine E. Keller, of Stroudsburg, will be married to Ralph H. Griesemer, '32, '35L, in the Stroudsburg Reformed Church on June 22. Elizabeth Ralston, '36, of Carlisle; Chester Wagner, '35, of Blairstown, N. J., and George H. Sacks, '35, '37L, of Allentown, will be three Dickinsonians in the wedding party. Miss Keller is at present Executive Director of the Assistance Board of Monroe County Mr. Griesemer was recently named assistant city solicitor of Allentown.

#### 1934

Mr. and Mrs. Logan B. Emlet of Newcastle, Del., announce the birth of a son, John Logan Emlet, on February 20. Mrs. Emlet was the former Miss Helen M. Baker.

The wedding of Elizabeth M. Pyles to Albert H. Aston, '32, '34L, was performed at the Foundry Methodist Church, Washington, D. C., on April 20 with the Rev. Dr. Frederick Brown Harris, '09, officiating. The bride was attended by Bernice E. Gotschall, '35. They now reside in Wilkes-Barre, where Mr. Aston practices law.

#### 1935

Mr. and Mrs. Bertram J. Lange, of Washington, D. C., have announced the birth of a daughter, Patricia Falk Lange, on February 16. Mrs. Lange is the former Jean H. Black.

Mr. and Mrs. George A. Hansell, Jr., of Media, Pa., have announced the birth of a son on February 19. Mrs. Hansell was

Elfrieda Keller.

The engagement of Sarah Katherine Shroat, of Harrisburg, to Dr. Harold K. Skramstad, of Seattle, Wash., has been announced. The wedding will take place in the early summer. Miss Shroat is a member of the visiting staff of the Dauphin County Board of Assistance. Dr. Skramstad, who graduated from the College of Puget Sound and received his doctorate from the University of Washington, is assistant physicist of the Bureau of Standards, Washington.

The engagement of Lena Ritner, of Carlisle, to C. Richard Stover has been announced by

#### **Baltimore Notes**

Carlyle R. Earp, Correspondent, 129 E. Redwood St., Baltimore, Md.

The Dickinson Glee Club rendered a very attractive concert on April 5th in the parish house of Howard Park Methodist Church, Baltimore. The concert was well attended by Baltimore

alumni and parishoners.

Charles Wesley Orem, '35, was married to Miss Melanie Florice Prack in Norfolk, Va., on December 9, 1939. Mrs. Orem was graduated in nursing last September from the Norfolk General Hospital. They now reside at 5511 Wayne Ave., Howard Park, Baltimore.

The Rev. Henry Darlington, D.D., '10, rector of the Church of the Heavenly Rest, New York City, was the preacher at the ceremony of the massing of colors of many partiotic and military organizations held at the Episcopal Pro-Cathedral in Baltimore on February 18th in honor of the national flag and the birth of George Washing-

To William C. Clarke, Jr., '35, and Elizabeth Goodyear Clarke, '36, a son was born on Sunday, March 24th. The Clarkes reside at 2911 Dunmurry Road,

Dundalk, Md.

Harry L. Price, '96, Baltimore attorney, member of the Board of Trustees, was elected president of the Board of Managers of the Maryland General Hospital in Baltimore in January.

Mrs. Mayme C. McKenney, wife of the Rev. W. Gibbs McKenney, of Glenelg, Md., and mother of W. Gibbs McKenney, Jr., '39, and another son Harold S. McKenney, died on January 27 in Maryland General Hospital following a lingering illness.

her parents. Miss Ritner is employed in the personnel department of the Bell Telephone Company in Harrisburg while Mr. Stover is with a finance company in York.

John Hobach, who was graduated from Franklin and Marshall College and taught for several years in Franklin and Marshall Academy, is a first-year medical student in the University of Pennsylvana Medical School.

The engagement of Miss Dorothy Frances Groover, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Orin C. Groover, of Camp Hill, Pa., to Eugene A. Burnett was announced on May 4. Miss Groover is a graduate of Camp Hill High School and is employed by the liquidating trustees of the Commonwealth Trust Com-

The Class of 1935 will celebrate its 5th Reunion at the coming Commencement, June 7 to 10 with the class dinner slated for Sunday, June 9. 1936

Mr. and Mrs. William C. Clarke, Jr., of Dundalk, Md., announced the birth of a son, William Charles Clarke, III, on March 24. Mrs. Clarke was Elizabeth Goodyear.

The engagement of Mary Richards Stevens, of Camp Hill, Pa., to Edward Snyder Longanecker, of Littlestown, Pa., was announced at a tea on April 20 given at the home of her aunt, Mrs. Howard F. Sigler, of Camp Hill. Miss Stevens is now teacher of Latin in the Hanover High School. Mr. Longanecker graduated from Shippensburg State Teachers College and Duke University, and he took graduate work at West Virginia and Cornell Universities. He is English instructor in the Gettysburg High School, where he also directs the band and orchestra.

Mr. and Mrs. W. K. Crouse, of Dauphin, Pa., have announced the marriage of their daughter, Adelaide L. Crouse, to John M. Creveling. The ceremony was performed on May 4 in Christ Lutheran Church, Harris-burg. They now reside at 1739 Herr Street,

Harrisburg.

Charlotte B. Chadwick, of Carlisle, will attend the 1940 summer session of the Mohawk Drama Festival's Institute of the Theater at Union College. Enrollment in this professional theater training school is limited to 50 student-apprentices each summer. Miss Chadwick is dramatic coach and teaches history in the Carlisle High School.

Pete Sivess is now a member of the pitching staff of the Indianapolis team of the American Association, after an earlier try-out with

the Cincinnati Reds.

Joseph J. McIntosh, who graduated from the Law School last June and passed the July Pennsylvania bar examinations, was admitted to the Cumberland County bar on February 21. He is associated in the practice of law with former Judge E. M. Biddle, Jr., '86, and J. Boyd Landis, '31. In the April primaries, he won the Democratic nomination for the Pennsylvania House of Representatives from Cumberland County and will oppose Republican Dr. W. R. Shearer in the fall elections.

The engagement of Lieut. John P. Haines, Jr., to V. Pendry Spear, of Middletown, Ohio, has been announced. They will be married in June. Lieutenant Haines is in the Aviation Corps of the U. S. Marines stationed at Quantico, Va.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert R. Grainger, of Enola, Pa., announced the birth of a son, Robert Russell Grainger, Jr., on April 1. Mrs. Grainger is the former Miss Louise Kosten-bauder. Mr. Grainger is a member of the faculty and athletic director of the Enola High School.

Blanche L. Dum, '10, of Carlisle, in April announced the engagement of her niece, Jeanne E. Dum to the Rev. Marcus J. Birrell, of Broadhead, Wis. Miss Dum who received her master's degree in religious education from Boston University has been director of religious education at the Church of the Redeemer in Baltimore since last September. The Rev. Mr. Birrell is a graduate of the University of Wisconsin and Boston University School of Theology and is pastor of the Methodist Church, Broadhead, Wis. The wedding will take place in the late summer.

Clayton G. Going, a reporter for the Binghamton Press, Binghamton, N. Y., since graduation, has joined the editorial department of the Poughkeepsie Eagle-News, Poughkeepsie, N. Y., as a reporter and editorial writer. His new home address is The Spanish Arms, Apt. 14C, Poughkeepsie, N. Y.

Robert McKendree Glass, '39L, was admitted to practice law in the Franklin County courts and also before the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in April. He will practice in

Chambersburg, Pa.

Maxwell N. Lundgren is studying physiotherapy at the University of Pennsylvania Graduate Hospital, Philadelphia.

Janet M. Persun received the degree of master of arts in Psychology from the University of Pennsylvania at its midyear commencement exercises.

#### 1939

Mr. and Mrs. Lester Himes, of Newport, Pa., in March announced the engagement of their daughter, Miss Ruth Annabelle Himes, to John Henry Eby, of Newport. Miss Himes attended Indiana State Teachers College and is employed in the Harrisburg Unemployment Relief Office. Mr. Eby is employed by the Pennsylvania Light and Power Company at Harrisburg.

Margaret E. Meals is employed in the office of the Eaton-Dikeman Paper Company in Mt.

Holly Springs, Pa.

Marion S. Michael is singing with the Boston University Glee Club. He is a student in B. U. Theological Seminary.

Alice E. Eastlake, of Ridley Park, Pa., will continue her graduate work in science at Bryn Mawr for the academic year 1940-41, under a scholarship recently granted.

Douglas C. Bell is employed with the

#### **Delaware Notes**

Mrs. Anne B. Bennethum, Correspondent. Capitol Trail, Marshallton, Del.

Mrs. Phyllis Maon Heck, '15, supervisor of rural schools for New Castle County, was elected vice-president on the Delaware State Council of Parents and Teachers at the state convention

held on April 13.
Ralph Minker, '20, will preside at the evening session on May 16 of the Peninsula Methodist Conference which will be held in Grace Church, Wilmington. Mr. Minker is president of the Dickinson Club of Delaware and is head of the Ferris Industrial School for Boys. He is chairman of the commission elected by the General Assembly to study Sunday laws.

William E. Matthews, Jr., '19, former state senator and present mayor of Smyrna, Del., presided as the retiring District Governor over the 184th district convention of Rotary held in Wil-

mington in April.

George Williams, '00, Congressman of Delaware, who has just been elected a delegate to the Republican national convention, was the chief speaker at the opening session of the Rotary district convention.

George Hering, Jr., '17, has been elected an alternate delegate to the Re-

publican national convention.

Albert W. James, '27L, president of the City Council of Wilmington, was temporary chairman and keynoter of the Republican state convention held in Dover on April 24.

Leonard G. Hagner, '15, assistant city solicitor of Wilmington and treasurer of the Dickinson Club of Delaware, has been elected chairman of the Republican City Committee for the

1940 elections.

The Rev. James W. Colona, D.D., '99, of Smyrna, member of the Board of Trustees of the College, will preside at the opening session of the Peninsula Methodist Conference on May 15, in Wilmington. The Rev. Fred B. Harris, D.D., '09, pastor of Foundry Methodist Church, Washington, will conduct the enrichment hour in two of the daily sessions.

Norton Company, manufacturers of grinding wheels and machines, at their main plant in Worcester, Mass. His address is 61 Wachusett St., Worcester.

## **OBITUARY**

1872—David Jay Myers, retired attorney, died at the age of 91 years in Phila-

delphia on May 6. He was born in Philadelphia on March 28, 1849.

He attended the Dickinson Prepartory School, entered the college in 1868, received his A.B. in 1872 and an A.M. in 1875. He was a member of Phi Kappa Psi Fraternity and of Phi Beta Kappa.

Following his graduation he studied law and from 1896 to 1899 was vicepresident for the Citizens' Trust and Surety Company. He was a director and attorney

for the Union Surety and Guaranty Company.

On February 5, 1880, he married Annie Logan Beetem of Carlisle and they had five children: Eleanor Logan, William M., David J., Logan R. and Marian.

1873—At the advanced age of 90 years, S. Judson Stark, who was one of the oldest living alumni of the college and of Sigma Chi Fraternity, died on March 2 in West Pittston, Pa., at the home of his son-in-law, Dunham Lamb. He is survived by one son, Samuel G. Stark, of Uniondale, Pa., three grandchildren and four great-grandchildren. His wife Eva W. Keeney, to whom he was married in 1873, died on September 21, 1919 and his only daughter, Mrs. Dunham Lamb, died February 2, 1939.

Born in Tunkhannock, Pa., October 2, 1850, he was a lineal descendant of several families prominent in pre-Revolutionary days. He graduated from Wyoming Seminary in 1869 when he entered the college. Illness caused his withdrawal from Dickinson before graduation. He first entered the mercantile and real estate business and for 10 years was president of the Tunkhannock Bridge Co. For some years

he was secretary and sales agent for the Stark Land Co. of Pittston.

He was a member of the Methodist Church and held an official relation since 1876 as trustee, official board member and Sunday School superintendent. He was a member and Past Master of Temple Lodge No. 248, F. & A. M., of Tunkhannock; a Past High Priest of Chapter and a Past Commander of Knight's Templar. He was a charter member of Keystone Consistory, Scottish Rite, of Scranton, Pa., and a member of Irem Temple of the Shrine at Wilkes-Barre, Pa. He was vice-president of the Stark Family Association, and a member of the New England Society of Northeastern Pennsylvania. He was a life member of the Wyoming Historical and Genealogical Society and a member of the Pennsylvania Society of Sons of the Revolution, and of the Baronial Order of Runnemede.

1877—Harry Webster, who was at one time an official of the Erie Railroad and later of the Savannah Steamship Co., died in Belair, Md., on November 29, 1939. He was born in Harford County, Maryland, July 21, 1855, and prepared for college at Belair Academy. He was a member of Phi Kappa Sigma Fraternity and the Belles Lettres Society.

1880—The Rev. Elmer Wolford McDade, D.D., retired Methodist clergyman, died at his home in Des Moines, Iowa, on January 14 at the age of eighty-two years, two months and twenty-eight days. He was the son of Charles and Ann McDade and was born on a farm at Bakersville, Md., October 16, 1857.

He prepared for college at Hagerstown Seminary and received his A.B. from the college in 1880 and an A.M. in 1883. In 1916 Simpson College honored him with the degree of Doctor of Divinity. At Dickinson, he became a member of Sigma Chi

Fraternity.

Upon his graduation, he entered the ministry and served for 47 years. After three years at Altoona, he became a member of the Des Moines Annual Conference. From 1909 to 1915 he was superintendent of the Atlantic District. He served twelve pastoral charges. His longest pastorate was seven years at Wesley Church, Des Moines. He retired in 1927. In 1908 and again in 1912, he was elected a delegate to General Conference. Among his accomplishments as pastor were the building of four churches and one parsonage, and the raising of funds to pay four church debts of considerable proportions.

He married Miss Elizabeth Henneberger of Hagerstown, Md., on September 7, 1881. To this union were born two sons, Edwin Charles, who survives his father, and Louie Elmer, who died at the age of four years in 1888. His wife, Elizabeth, passed away at Boone, Ia., on May 2, 1887. On June 22, 1882, he married Miss Grace Martin. To them a son Paul Martin, was born, who with the widow survives. He is also survived by one brother Edgar, of Hagerstown, Md., six grandchildren

and four great-grandchildren.

1882—John Marvin Colaw, of Monterey, Va., former commonwealth attorney of Highland County, Va., for many years a practising attorney there, but also distinguished for his achievements in the field of mathematical science and author of a number of books on mathematics, died of heart failure on February 26.

Born March 16, 1860 in Crabbottom, Va., he first attended Roanoke College, entered Dickinson in 1879 and received his A.B. in 1882 and an A.M. in 1885. From 1882 to 1885 he studied law in the University of Virginia and was admitted

to the bar in 1886.

From 1884 to 1887 he was principal of the Monterey High School and in 1884 he was one of the founders of the American Mathematical Monthly and for nine years was editor of this magazine which is published now by the American Mathematical Association, of which he was a member. He was joint-author of Colaw and Elwood's Primary Arithmetic, Advanced Arithmetic, Teachers' Manual, High School Algebra, Geometry and other mathematical texts, as well as having been a frequent contributor to various mathematical journals.

At Dickinson he became a member of Phi Delta Theta Fraternity and the U. P.

Society.

He was twice married In 1886 he married Josephine M. Judy of

He was twice married. In 1886 he married Josephine M. Judy of Petersburg, W. Va. Following her death he married Lizzie G. Gibson, of Monterey, Va., in 1895. They had two sons, Owen D. and Joseph M.

1887-Dr. William Bell Langsdorf, educator, author, preacher and former mis-

sionary to Japan, died on February 8 in Pasadena, Calif.

Born in Mechanicsburg, Pa., on February 20, 1866, he attended Dickinson Preparatory School, received his A.B. from the college in 1887 and an A.M. in 1890. He studied in the University of Leipzig 1890-92, 1893 and in 1892 at Oxford University, and at Rome and Paris in 1893. He received his Ph.D. degree from Washington and Jefferson in 1897 and graduated from Lane Theological Seminary in 1902. He received a Litt.D. degree from Hanover College in 1897.

From 1887 to 1889 he was a teacher at Asbury Park, N. J., and from 1899 to

1890 he was professor of Latin and Greek at Poughkeepsie Military College. Upon his return from graduate study in Europe in 1893, he became professor of Latin language and literature in Miami University where he was a member of the faculty until 1902. In 1902 he was ordained a Presbyterian minister and went to Japan as a missionary where he served until 1909 when he became dean and professor of Latin language and literature in Westminster College, Colorado. In 1911, he resigned to become pastor of Calvary Church, Los Angeles, which he served until 1913.

He was a member of Phi Kappa Psi Fraternity, the Belles Lettres Society, Phi Beta Kappa Fraternity, American Bible Society and the Japanese Red Cross Society.

He was the translator of Seneca's "Tranquility of Mind, and Providence," and editor of *Fuknin Geppo*, a Japanese monthly, from 1903 to 1909, as well as a contributor to various educational journals.

He was married on July 11, 1900, to Julia May Tappan, of Oxford, Ohio, who survives with their children, Wilhelmina, Helen Julia, William Bell and David

Stanton.

1887—Henry Dorsey Etchison, attorney of Frederick, Md., died December 2 in the Frederick City Hospital after a four weeks' illness with heart trouble. He

was 72 years old.

Admitted to the bar in 1889, Mr. Etchison practiced in Frederick continuously until his death, save for a two years' service in Oklahoma with the land department of the Department of the Interior. In addition to his practice, Mr. Etchison was secretary of the Supervisors of Elections in Frederick for eight years from 1889, was a member of the Frederick Board of Reassessment of Property in 1908, was attorney of the Frederick County Board of County Commissioners in 1926 and 1927, and deputy register of wills. He twice sought election to Congress and once to the state senate, but failed to be elected.

Mr. Etchison was a prominent fraternal leader and was a past grand master of the I. O. O. F. and a representative to the Grand Lodge of the same organization. He was also a member of the Knights of Pythias, Order of United American Mechanics, Patriotic Order of the Sons of America, Independent Order of Redmen, and

the Modern Woodmen of America.

Born September 19, 1867, at Frederick, Md., the son of Henry N. and Mary Etchison, he prepared for college at Frederick Academy and entered Dickinson in 1883. He was married on December 1, 1903, to Elizabeth G. Maize, of Williamsburg, Pa., who died within a year of their marriage, and four years later to Mary H. Ward, of Mongtomery County, Md., who, with two sons survives. Services were held at All Saints Episcopal Church, Frederick, of which he was a member, and interment was in Mt. Olivet Cemetery.

1889—Elmer E. Deemer, of Easton, Pa., a retired teacher, farmer and orchardist,

died March 16 in the Bethlehem Hospital.

He was born at Stouts, Pa., on January 24, 1862, the son of Thomas and Sarah E. (Rittenhouse) Deemer. He attended Dickinson Preparatory School, entered the college in 1885 and received his A.B. degree in 1889. After teaching school in Northampton County for a few years, he took up farming and apple growing in which he engaged until his death. He was a member of the Reformed Church.

He never married and lived at home with his sister until her death about a year

ago. Since then, he lived alone.

1891—The Rev. Ralph W. Illingworth died at his home in Winonna Lake, Ind.,

of pneumonia on April 4.

Born in England in 1863, he came to this country as a boy and prepared for college at Pennington Seminary. Upon his graduation from the college in 1891, he entered the ministry of the Central Pennsylvania Conference of the Methodist Church. After a few years in the Methodist ministry he was ordained as a minister of the Presbyterian Church by the Presbytery of Erie, and his last appointment was in Johnstown, Ohio, where he served for fifteen years, retiring in 1939. At one time he was superintendent of Indian missions in Arizona, and in 1904 was a graduate student in Edinburgh, Scotland. He was a member of Phi Kappa Psi Fraternity, and of the Belles Lettres Society.

Following the death of his first wife, who was Miss Marian Snyder, of Pine Grove Mills, Pa., he married Miss Isabel Davis of Burnham, who survives along with one son, J. Davis Illingworth. Also surviving are three children of his first marriage, Henry E. Ellingworth, Mrs. Ruth Andrews and the Rev. Ralph Illingworth,

Jr., of Hollidaysburg, Pa.

1895—Frederick Starr Stitt, patent attorney of Washington, D. C., died suddenly of a heart attack at his home on April 29, and was buried from the Chevy Chase Presbyterian Church on May 1, where he was the organist for some years. He

was a member of the American Guild of Organists.

Born in Baltimore, Md., on January 6, 1874, he was the son of Joseph B. and Mary Cochran Stitt. He graduated from Baltimore City College in 1891, received his A.B. from Dickinson in 1895 and an A.M. in 1898, the year he received his LL.B. degree from Georgetown University. In 1903, he received the degree of Master of Patent Law from Columbia University. For some years, he practiced law in New York City but since 1912 specialized in patent law in Washington and was recognized as one of the leading patent attorneys of the country.

He was twice married, and both his wives predeceased him. In 1897, he married Jessie Elliott Woodward, of Carlisle, who died in 1929. They had a daughter, Mrs. F. D. Little, with whom he made his home in Washington. In 1930, he married Mrs. Nellie B. Altemus of Washington, who died in 1937.

A member of Beta Theta Pi Fraternity, Mr. Stitt was also a member of the Potomac Lodge, F. & A. M., the Presbyterian Church, the Columbia Country Club and the Washington Board of Trade.

Besides his daughter, he leaves a sister, Mrs. M. L. Keedy, of Hagerstown, Md.

1897—Isaac T. Parks, Jr., Baltimore attorney-at-law, died suddenly at his home, 2703 North Calvert Street, Baltimore, on March 30th.

Mr. Parks, an only son in a family of six, was born to Isaac T. and Anne Priscilla Parks on August 25, 1873 at Oriole, Somerset County, on the Eastern shore of Maryland, where his father conducted business as a merchant and oysterman.

He was prepared for College at the old Wilmington Conference Academy at Dover, Del., and after graduation from Dickinson in 1897 pursued a law course at the Law School of the University of Maryland, where he was graduated in 1900.

Mr. Parks practiced in Baltimore for forty years, was a charter member of the Criminal Justice Commission of Baltimore as well as counsel for the Old Town Merchants and Manufacturers Association and for four building associations. He was a director of the Seaboard Insurance Company of Baltimore and the senior trustee of the Margaret Bennett Home for employed young women in Baltimore.

Although he was always busy in his practice, his interest led him into partici-

pation in many Methodist organizations and in the affairs of Mount Vernon Place

Methodist Church, Baltimore.

Mr. Parks was a member of a number of the branches of the Masonic fraternity. Besides being a past president of the Dickinson Club of Baltimore, he served on its committees throughout his life and was always a jovial spirit at its annual reunions.

An associate in practice said of him that he was generous always to an opponent in argument and his conservatism is attested by the fact that he occupied the same

suite of offices during the most of his years of practice.

Mr. Parks is survived by his widow, Mrs. Grace Smith Parks and a son, Wallace J. Parks. He was buried in Druid Ridge Cemetery near Baltimore on April 2d.

1906—Harry G. Cramer, World War veteran, insurance executive and former football coach in Johnstown and Pittsburgh, died following an operation in a Johnstown hospital on April 8 at the age of 59 years. He entered the hospital for the removal of a blood clot from his leg and he failed to improve following the operation.

He was buried with full military honors, accorded by the Johnstown Post of the American Legion of which he was the first commander and the first of the twenty past commanders to die. Dr. Daniel P. Ray, '03, also a past commander was one

of the pallbearers.

On November 4, 1881, he was born in Kernville, the son of the Rev. Wilson Cramer, a U. B. Minister, and Mrs. Amanda Griffith Cramer. He attended Williamsport Dickinson Seminary and graduated from the college, where he became a member of Phi Delta Theta Fraternity, in 1906. He was captain of the football team in his senior year, and was a stellar performer at end on the eleven.

Upon his graduation from the college in 1906 he became coach of the Johnstown High School football team, succeeding Andrew Kerr, '00, now coach at Colgate. He continued as faculty member and coach until 1910 when he resigned to accept

a similar position at South High School, Pittsburgh.

With the declaration of war, Mr. Cramer enlisted in the U. S. Army in May 1917, was commissioned a first lieutenant, promoted to a captaincy and commanded the 808th Pioneer Infantry of the A. E. F. in France. He received his discharge on July 9, 1919. Upon his return from service he entered the insurance business and for the past twenty years was district manager for the New England Mutual Life Insurance Company.

He was married on February 8, 1921 to Miss Florence Kelly, who with a son Harry, Jr., survives. He is also survived by two brothers, John W. Cramer, City Clerk

of Johnstown; Walter Cramer and a sister, Miss Cora Cramer.

1915L—Daniel Webster Cunningham, a member of the Nashville, Tenn., bar for 24 years and member of the faculty of the law school of Andrew Jackson University, was found dead in his bed by his landlady on the morning of April 22. He had not been ill, and associates say that they had never heard him complain that he felt badly in the past 20 years.

Recognized as an authority on the law of Real Estate, Wills and Contracts, he lectured three days each week at Andrew Jackson University.

He was born at Fulton, Pa., March 7, 1886, the son of William T. and Minerva

Griffth Cunningham. His mother, who lives at Wells Tannery, Pa., and a brother,

Frank E. Cunningham, of Poughkeepsie, N. Y., survive him.

Following his graduation from Millersville Normal School he entered the college in 1910 as a member of the class of 1914. He withdrew at the end of the Freshman year to enter the Dickinson School of Law from which he graduated in 1915. He went to Nashville in 1916 and began the practice of law there in the office of John Wesley Gaines. Later he became associated with General Jeff McCarn, which association continued until 1937 when he opened offices with Collett Mayfield.

He was a member of the McKendree Methodist Church, of Nashville; of Beta Theta Pi Fraternity and he was a 32d Degree Mason. Interment was made at Wells

Tannery, Pa.

1917—George V. Hoover, attorney of Harrisburg, Pa., died on April 12 in the U. S. Naval Hospital, Philadelphia, where he had been a patient for a month. He had been in ill health for several months before entering the veterans' hospital.

Born on January 17, 1895 in Berrysburg, Pa., he prepared for college at Conway Hall. He graduated in 1917 and enlisted in the army, receiving his commission as a first lieutenant and serving throughout the war at Camp Meade. Upon his discharge from service he returned to the Dickinson School of Law from which he graduated in 1921. For some years, he was associated in the practice of law in Harrisburg with the late James G. Hatz, '07.

He was a member of Beta Theta Pi Fraternity; Robert Burns Lodge F. and A. M.; Harrisburg Consistory; Zembo Shrine; B. O. E.; American Legion; the Sojourners Club; the Dauphin County Bar Association and the Grace U. B. Church

of Penbrook, Pa.

He is survived by his widow, Mrs. Fannie O. Hoover; a step-daughter, Barbara Kirkpatrick, a member of the senior class of the college; his parents, Mr. and Mrs. R. M. Hoover, of Penbrook, and two sisters, Mrs. Charles E. Meckley of Penbrook and Mrs. Charles Bobb, of Bethlehem.

1919—C. VanDyke Conover, football and baseball coach at West Chester State Teachers' College, died of a heart attack at his home in Llanerch, Pa., on January 5. At the time of his death, he was also an instructor of first aid classes for the American Red Cross.

Born in Silverton, N. J., on March 30, 1897, he graduated from Pennsgrove High School. With the declaration of the World War, he withdrew from Dickinson to enter naval aviation. Afterward he attended Drew University and Temple, where he was captain of the football team. After his graduation, he was football coach at Pennington, Camden High School and Vermont Academy before going to West Chester State Teachers' College.

A member of Phi Kappa Sigma Fraternity, he was a Methodist and a member

of the Lions' Club.

He is survived by his widow, who was Miss Mary R. McNeil, of Germantown, Pa., whom he married on November 12, 1920; and two daughters Betty Conover, aged 18, and Helen Barbara, now 8 years old. His widow is a trained dental assistant.

1922—A belated report came to the college in March telling of the death on December 6, 1939 of Eleanor R. Blackburn Longshore, wife of Rudolf E. Longshore,

of Sheldon, Iowa. She died in a Spencer, Iowa, hospital of hemorrhage of the brain after having been in ill health for some time.

A daughter of W. Dorsey and Lucretia Lamborn Blackburn of Bedford Heights, Pa., she graduated from the Bedford High School in 1918 and from the college in

1922. She did graduate work at Teachers College, Columbia University.

After teaching in the Milton, W. Va., high school, she entered the work of the Y. W. C. A. being girls' work secretary of the Carlisle body in 1924 and from 1925-26 general secretary. She also was with the Y. W. C. A. in Pleasantville and Cohoes, N. Y. On August 19, 1933 she married Mr. Longshore, who was an engineer with the Iowa Highway Department.

She was a member of Phi Mu Fraternity and of the Friends Church. In 1938-

39, she was president of the Sheldon Woman's Club, Sheldon, Iowa.

Besides her husband and parents, she is survived by two brothers and a sister, Mrs. Edith B. Hazlehurst, '22, of Bethlehem; Evelyn, of Cleveland and Kenneth, at home.

1938—James Miehle Channell, son of James L. N. Channell, '96, of Pottsville, Pa., where his father is a prominent attorney, was killed in an automobile accident on April 6, when his car with three other passengers plunged over a 35 foot embankment along the Gordon Nagle Trail two miles west of his home. George Marsden, member of another prominent Pottsville family, aged 28, died in the accident while his twin brother and Chester Lawson, 27, were injured. Apparently, failing to negotiate a curve, the car went over the embankment and plunged into the Schuylkill River. George Marsden was pinned in the car, and while young Channell was thrown out into shallow water all efforts to resuscitate him were fruitless.

Born in Pottsville on August 8, 1914, he prepared for college at the Haverford Preparatory School. He entered Dickinson in 1934 and received his degree in 1938 He played on the golf team for four years and was captain in his senior year. While in college he was an outstanding soccer player throughout all four years. He

served his fraternity as treasurer, house-manager and rushing chairman.

Upon his initiation into Beta Theta Pi Fraternity, his father attended the ceremony and placed the pin on his son. A similar incident occurred in his senior year, when his father who was one of the founders of Raven's Claw attended the initiation of his son. Members of Raven's Claw and the undergraduate chapter of Beta Theta Pi attended the funeral services. He is survived by his father and mother and one sister.

## **NECROLOGY**

Mrs. Sarah Buckley Taintor, mother of Miss Mary B. Taintor, who is associate professor of romance languages in the college, died on March 22 at the home of her daughter in Carlisle at the age of 84 years.

Mrs. Taintor was the widow of the Rev. Jesse Fox Taintor, at one time a member of the faculty of Ripon College, Ripon, Wisconsin. She is survived by another daughter, Mrs. Katherine Haun, of Milwaukee, a grandson and four sisters.

Brief funeral services were held in Carlisle with the Rev. Glenn M. Shafer, D.D., pastor of the Second Presbyterian Church, of which Mrs. Taintor was a member, officiating, on March 23 before departure for Ripon, Wis., where further services were held and interment made on March 25.

#### DIRECTORY OF ALUMNI CLUBS

#### Dickinson Club of Altoona

#### Dickinson Club of Atlantic City

Marjorie L. McIntire, '10 ......President Lloyd E. Spangler, '22 ....Vice-President Mabel E. Kirk, '05 ...Secretary-Treasurer 4301 Atlantic Ave., Atlantic City, N. J.

#### Dickinson Club of Baltimore

Dr. S. Luther Bare, '02 ......President Robert A. Waidner, '32 ...Vice-President Ann V. Reese, '39 ...Vice-President Rev. James J. Resh. '97 ...Vice-President C. Wesley Orem, '35 ...Secretary-Treasurer 5511 Wayne Ave., Baltimore, Md.

#### Dickinson Club of Boston

#### Dickinson Club of California

Robert Hays Smith, '98 ......President Samuel H. Beetem, '92 ...Vice-President Joseph Z. Hertzler, '13, Secretary-Treasurer 1865 Sacramento St., San Francisco, Cal.

Dickinson Club of Delaware

Rev. Ralph L. Minker, '20 ......President

Harry L. Cannon, '99 .....Vice-President

Ivan Culbertson, '29L ...Vice-President

Judge Earl D. Willey, '13 ...Vice-President

Mrs. Wm. H. Bennethum, III, '25

Secretary

## Marshallton, Delaware Leonard G. Hagner, '15 ......Treasurer Dickinson Club of Harrisburg

John F. Morgenthaler, '21 ..... President Yates Catlin, '19 ...... Vice-President Morris E. Swartz, Jr., '23.

Secretary-Treasurer 18 South 29th Street, Camp Hill, Pa.

#### Dickinson Club of New York

Franklin T. Woodward, '01 ......President Rev. John M. Pearson, '18 ..Vice-President Robert J. Shearer, '96 ..Secretary-Treasurer 776 E. 12th St., Brooklyn, N. Y.

#### Dickinson Alumni Association of Northeastern Pennsylvania

Judge E. Foster Heller, '04 ..... President
Joseph Fleitz, '04L ..... Vice-President
\*Clarence Balent'ne. '93 ..... Secretary
425 Miller Bldg., Scranton, Pa.
Frank P. Benjamin, '04L .... Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey Raymond E. Hearn, 24 ... President Robert F. Lavanture, 31 ... Vice-President Leon D. Sloan, 33 ... Secretary-Treasurer Maple Shade, N. J.

\* Deceased

#### Dickinson Club of Philadelphia

Upper Darby, Pa.

#### Dickinson Club of Pittsburgh

Abner H. Bagenstose, '17 .....President Blanche E Stewart. '19 ....Vice-President Nicholas Unkovic, '32L, Secretary-Treasurer

917 Frick Building, Pittsburgh, Pa.

#### Dickinson Club of Reading-Berks

Wm. L. Eshelman, '15 ...........President L. R. Bingaman, '31, '33L, Vice-President Mrs. Leona Barkalow Kline, '27,

Secretary-Treasurer 63 Grand View Boulevard, Wyomissing Hills, West Lawn, Pa.

#### Dickinson Club of Trenton

#### Dickinson Club of Washington

Dr. Earl S. Johnston '13 ..... President Dr. Fred L. Mohler. '14 ... Vice-President Maude E. Wilson. '14 .... Secretary 1789 Lanier Place, Washington, D. C. Paul A. Mangan, '34 .... Treasurer

#### Dickinson Club of West Branch Valley

Rev. Herbert P. Beam, '20 ....President Clyde E. Carpenter, '26, '28L. Vice-President

Mrs. John T. Shuman, '30, Secretary-Treasurer 715 Third Ave., Williamsport, Pa.

#### Dickinson Club of York

Earl M. Schroe ler. '26 ......President John E. Brenne man, '13, 20L. Vice-President Dorothy M. Bacders, '32 ...Vice-President J. Richard Budding, '32, '36L, Secretary-Tressurer Secretary-Treasurer 19 East Market St., York, Pa.

#### New York Alumnae Club

#### Philadelphia Alumnae Club

## Come back

for

# Commencement June 7-10



ALUMNI DAY
Saturday
June 8
Register at Old West